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Mission Statement

To support & develop the SME Sector in Pakistan

by providing the necessary financial

and

technical assistance on a sustainable basis.

To enable the SME Sector to contribute to economic development through value 

addition & exports, promote entrepreneurship

and

create employment opportunities
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Corporate Vision 

We will be the leading institution for providing financial assistance for the development and support 

of Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in Pakistan.

We will respond to the needs of Small and Medium Enterprises by providing them with the necessary 

financial assistance and business support services in the form of short to long term funds.

We will, through support of the SME sector, contribute to the growth of local entrepreneurs, develop 

export markets and provide employment opportunities in the country.
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It is my pleasure to present the 13th Annual Report of SME Bank for the year ended December 31, 
2014.

The economic activity remained sluggish, and the SME sector bore the brunt of the energy crisis due 
to lack of access to alternate energy. In the coming year, to augment GoP efforts, the Bank will also 
focus on facilitating SMEs in arranging their own sources of energy either on collective or individual 
basis, if need arises.

SME Bank continued to work with a limited equity base as the amount allocated by the GoP could 
not be released during 2014. The Bank is operating with paid-up capital of Rs 2.39 billion since 2007 
and State Bank has granted exemption to meet the requirement of minimum paid-up capital which 
otherwise should have been Rs 10 billion by the end of 2014. In the shareholders' meeting on October 
7, 2009, it was advised that the Bank be recapitalized by increasing paid-up capital; management has 
approached Ministry of Finance for the same over the years. MoF has allocated an amount of Rs 500 
million for equity in the 2014-15 budget, we are hopeful this amount will be released to sustain the 
bank for a robust role in ensuing year.

With a network of 13 branches the Bank has very limited outreach. The Bank's Directors have 
authorised the opening of additional branches, however the in-principle approval from the State 
Bank is not forthcoming pending injection of additional equity or privatization. 

During the period, revenue increased by Rs. 73.54 million over last year and the administrative cost 
was decreased by 1.49% under tight management control. 

Even under constrained circumstances there is no let up in the Bank's primary operations, albeit at a 
slower than desired pace for reasons stated. We have been able to increase our lending from Rs 3,053 
million last year to Rs 3,215 million at year end. Rs 1,836 million was disbursed during the year. 

As business & economic activities remained depressed, repayment commitments were dishonoured 
by many borrowers, however due to the management's focus and strenuous efforts by the field staff, 
non-performing portfolio decreased. 

We are hopeful that injection of equity and opening of new branches will cause further expansion in 
business and enhance operations to the advantage of all stakeholders.  

It is the Management's vision to build an image of SME Bank as the bank which is a friend of the SE & 
ME entrepreneurs; a bank totally trusted with their deposits and ability and resources to cater to 
their business needs. Customers' will see SME Bank as the bedrock integral to their business growth 
and sustainability and as a national institution ably playing its crucial role in the country's economic 
growth & development.

On behalf of the management, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the State Bank of 
Pakistan, the Ministry of Finance and the Board of Directors for their continued support and 
guidance.

    President
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Directors’ report to the shareholders
We are pleased to present the 13th annual report of SME Bank Limited with the audited accounts and 
auditors' report thereon for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

Economic Review
The deflationary trend in SPI (receded 1.67% over the past four weeks), It was anticipated that CPI to 
register a deflation of 0.13%MoM in Feb'15, translating into a YOY inflation of 4.0% vs. 3.9%/7.9% in 
Jan'15/Feb'14. Lower inflation during the month is likely to notch down average inflation during 
8MFY15 to 5.6% compared to 8.7% in 8MFY14. The muted inflation in Feb'15 can be attributed to 
6%MoM-10%MoM reduction in petroleum prices coupled with continued declining trend in food 
prices (expected to decline by 0.3%MoM). Despite expected summer related increase in food prices 
in tandem with expected increase in petroleum prices (global crude already up 25%MoM in Feb'15), 
inflation is expected to remain muted over the remainder of FY15 primarily due to high base effect. 
With CPI over remaining 5MFY15 at 3.7% (average full year CPI: 4.9%) and consequent real interest 
rate at 450+ bps, It is expected that a continuation of the easing theme initiated at the tail end of CY14. 
That said, given potential headwinds particularly in light of any rebound in global crude prices, it is 
expected the State Bank of Pakistan to adopt a slightly cautious stance with easing continuing in a 
phased manner. As such, this is expected that a cut of 50bps in the Mar'15 MPS, with concurrent cuts 
over later policy statements, depending on the economic direction.

Operational Highlights
The Bank is operating with paid capital of Rs 2.39 billion since 2007. State Bank has granted 
exemption to meet the requirement of minimum paid up capital which otherwise should have been 
Rs 10 billion by the end of 2014. Shareholders in their meeting on October 7, 2009, advised to 
recapitalize the bank by increasing its paid-up capital and management has approached Ministry of 
Finance for the same. The Board noted that in view of impending privatization of the Bank, SBP's 
constraints on business expansion, and very narrow equity base of less than Rs 2 billion, it is a 
challenge to operate the bank on self sustainable basis.   

Earlier as part of privatization process of the Bank, due diligence exercise was completed by the 
bidders in 2008 and since then no further progress has been made on the privatization of the bank. As 
the process of privatisation could not reach its logical conclusion the ownership of the Bank still rests 
mainly with the federal government. 
   
In view of restrictions placed by State Bank of Pakistan there was no change in branch network 
during the year 2014 and the Bank continued to operate with 13 commercial banking branches and 
eight recovery offices. 

Interest Rate Scenario
SBP discount rate at the beginning of the year 2014 was 10.0 percent. During the year the net decrease 
in discount rate was 0.5 percent to bring the discount rate to 9.50 percent at year end. The change in 
discount rate also affects KIBOR for different tenors however bank maintained to increase income on 
advances as compared to previous year. 

Credit Rating
The Bank was assigned a long term credit rating of BBB - (Triple B minus) and short term rating of A 3 
(A Three) by PACRA credit rating agency on February 27, 2014. The credit rating company has 
expressed that growth in the bank's operations is restricted due to delay in injection of additional 
equity into the bank; that although the management is taking measures to improve business 
functions, operational sustainability is dependant upon equity injection by the primary sponsor. 

Operational Results    
In the backdrop of narrow equity base and shortage of funds, management has been able to meet day 
to day liquidity needs and maintenance of statutory liquidity requirements (SLR) set by the 
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State Bank of Pakistan. Despite enormous pressure of liquidity crunch, the Bank was able to improve 
its loans and advances portfolio to Rs 3,215 million. During the year under review income from SME 
lending operations increased by an amount of Rs 41.48 million whereas income from treasury 
operation increased by an amount of Rs 32.05 million. The cost of deposits and borrowing increased 
by an amount of Rs 64.72 million. The average cost of deposits increased to 8.29% as compared to 
8.02% in 2013. 

The bank has booked before tax loss of Rs 378 million during the year 2014 as compared to before tax 
loss of Rs 426 million in 2013. In year 2014, we are able to reduce the losses over the previous year. The 
operating expenses have been declined by 1.49% over the year 2013 and revenue increase by 
18.25%.The reason for incurring losses were due to pending privatization, restructuring, limited 
outreach and economic condition. In future, we expect to decrease the losses by enhancing revenues 
and reducing volume of our Non-performing loans.  

During the year 2014, the bank charged provision of Rs 66 million against non-performing loans as 
against Rs 64 million in 2013. Loans and advances on account of the bank's lending operation rose 
from Rs 3,053 million in 2013 to Rs 3,215 million in 2014. The amount of classified portfolio stood at 
Rs 732 million as at December 31, 2014.

Administrative expenses have a decrease of about 1.49%. The management has been able to control 
expenditure under this head.
 
Deposits of the Bank stood at Rs 3,343 million at year end (2013: Rs 3,713 million). 
  
The Bank has an investment of Rs 215.46 million in its subsidiary, SME Leasing Limited (SMEL), at 
average share price of Rs 9.21. The company could not build up its lease portfolio due to non-
availability of funds and an increase in non-performing loans has adversely affected the financials of 
SMEL during last couple of years. Market value of its share has thus witnessed decline and stood at 
Rs 1 per share as on December 31, 2014. The Bank periodically reviews its investment in SMEL for 
evidence of any impairment. The recoverable amount of investment in SMEL is determined with 
reference to its value in use. The Bank uses present value techniques and financial projections of 
SMEL to calculate its value in use. 

The Bank has investment in SME Leasing Limited (SMEL) which is carried in these financial 
statements at Rs. 70.2 million and has outstanding running finance exposure of Rs. 155 million at the 
balance sheet date. Auditors of the bank was of the view that we should have booked in the books of 
accounts 2014 another impairment of Rs. 70.2 million equal to our investment in SME Leasing 
Limited outstanding in our books of account as on December 31, 2014 and provision equal to 25% of 
outstanding running finance exposure of Rs. 155 million at the balance sheet date. The advice of the 
auditor was without stating any extraordinary adverse happening in affairs of SME Leasing in last 
six months of year 2014. Outstanding equity in books of SME Leasing as on December 2014 was Rs. 
190.4 million. Share of SME Bank in the outstanding equity was Rs. 139.3 million and there against 
investment in SME Leasing on our books was outstanding at Rs. 70.2 million after impairment of Rs. 
145.2 million that had already been booked in our books on advice of the auditors. SME Leasing has 
been regularly paying due amount of the exposure extended to it. SBP regulations do not require any 
provision in the stated position of the exposure. In response to assessment of the recoverability of 
investment and running finance shared with the auditor, they have reported in their Auditor's 
Report to the Members that SMEL continues to operate on a net loss basis and therefore the 
recoverability of investment and running finance exposure appears doubtful of recovery. 
Management has shared with us its assessment of the recoverability of investment and running 
finance, however this does not take into account certain necessary factors. Accordingly they are 
unable to determine whether any impairment might be necessary against the carrying amount of the 
Bank's investment in SMEL and running finance exposure. 

We are considering to approach Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan for extension in 
time period and further the State Bank of Pakistan has allowed the Bank to record a provision of 25% 
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against the carrying amount of TREC up to March 2015 and if the matter is not resolved to record 
100% provision thereafter. Accordingly the Bank has not recorded impairment against the carrying 
value of TREC of Lahore Stock Exchange of Rs.21.56 million. The auditors in their report have stated 
that had the impairment been recorded, loss after tax for the year and accumulated losses would 
have increased by Rs. 21.56 million. 

Paid-up Capital
The Bank is operating with paid up capital of Rs 2.39 billion since 2007. In line with the SBP 
guidelines banks are required to raise paid up capital to minimum capital requirements of Rs 10 
billion by December 31, 2014. However the State Bank of Pakistan has granted exemption to meet the 
requirements of minimum paid up capital till June 30, 2015. 

Ministry of Finance has allocated an amount of Rs 500 million in the 2014-15 budgets for equity 
injection.  Management has already taken up the matter with Ministry of Finance for release of the 
amount for revival of the bank.  

Financial Statements
Financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards as 
applicable in Pakistan, SBP Prudential Regulations and Companies Ordinance 1984. The disclosures 
in notes to financial statements correspond to the requirement of law and guidelines issued by the 
regulatory authorities.

Internal Control over financial reporting
The board is fully committed to ensure the existence of an effective system of internal control in the 
bank and continuously reviews and evaluates the adequacy and integrity of those systems. 
However, the board recognizes that such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risks identified to acceptable levels. Therefore, the systems implemented can provide only 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against the occurrence of any material misstatement and loss. 

Whilst the Board has overall responsibility for the bank's system of internal controls, it has delegated 
the implementation of these internal control systems to the management in order to identify risk and 
take action to mitigate the risk. These internal control systems are subject to the board's regular 
review with a view towards appraising the effectiveness of these systems in the bank. 

Deposits
Despite all the impediments, the deposit portfolio of the Bank was increased to Rs.4,376 million as on 

ndJune 30, 2014. Application of moratorium on KASB Bank by SBP during 2  half year 2014 badly 
affected SME Bank's deposit base and was reduced to Rs 3,343 million on year end 2014 as compared 
to Rs 3,713 million in 2013. However, efforts are underway not only to recoup the lost deposits but 
also achieve the targets for 2015.

Disbursements 
Liquidity constraints notwithstanding, the bank was able to achieve disbursement of Rs 1,836 
million during the year as compared to Rs 1,659 million in the previous year. The number of clients 
served during the year was 552 and total number of outstanding borrowers stood at 1,637 at the year 
end. 
 
Leasing Business 
SME Leasing Limited, a subsidiary of the Bank incorporated in 2002, has posted a loss before tax of 
Rs 10.58 million as compared to loss of Rs 7.43 million from last year. Net equity of the company is 190 
million (2013: Rs 200 million). JCR-VIS has retained the long term credit rating to BB+ (Double B plus) 
and short term rating of B (B) with stable outlook. Bank provides financing facility to SME leasing on 
mark-up basis as and when required. 
 
SME Leasing disbursed Rs 256.50 million (2013: Rs 82 million) to 46 clients (2013: 14). Outstanding 
lease portfolio stands at Rs 579 million with 352 clients. 
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 Training & HR Development
For enhancement of skill/knowledge base of human capital available for specialised tasks, necessary 
training and skill development activities were carried out for the staff on the basis of training need 
assessment. 

Information Technology
The Bank has shifted its focus from offering traditional banking services to technology driven 
services for its customer. This planned dependence on IT enabled banking products required 
availability of a robust Disaster Recovery Site as well as Centralized Deployment of Banking 
Application. Both these milestones have been achieved successfully this year and it has enabled the 
Bank to launch innovative products.

Based on the above infrastructure updates/upgrades the Bank has successfully configured and 
tested SMS Alert service for its customers. This service keeps subscribers updated about every 
transaction taking place in their account and it shall be available to customers by end of January 2015. 
The Bank is also in the process of resource mobilization for configuration and launch of Mobile 
Wallet Services for its customers. These and other planned technological updates shall make this 
bank at par with other banks in offering IT enabled customer products.

Basel II & III 
In 2012, State Bank of Pakistan advised all banks to submit their information for Quantitative Impact 
Study (QIS) – Basel III. SME Bank has applied for exemption from submission of this statement on 
the basis of already granted exemption from Basel II; State Bank has granted exemption to the Bank 
from implementation of Basel II till its Privatization and from Basel III till June 30, 2015, due to large 
investment required in software, human resource, training, etc.   

Income Taxes
Tax Department served notices regarding Income Tax pertaining to tax years 2003, 2004, 2005, 2008, 
2010 and 2012. Bank has filed appeals with Appellate Tribunal for the Tax years 2008 & 2010 where as 
for the tax years 2003, 2004 Tax Department has filed reference in The Islamabad High Court against 
the decisions of the Appellate Tribunal & for the tax year 2005 tax department has filed an appeal 
with Appellate Tribunal against the decision. For the tax year 2012 appeal filed by the bank is 
pending with the Commissioner (Appeals). Rectification applications have also been filed 
accordingly. 

Tax Department also served notices regarding sales tax pertaining to tax years 2008, 2009, 2010 and 
2011-2012. Bank replied these notices and contested the cases but tax authorities passed orders 
against the bank. The bank filed appeal with Appellate Tribunal against these orders and obtained 
stay against recovery. Tax year 2008 and 2010 have been remanded back to the Commissioner for 
fresh consideration of the cases. 

Risk Management Framework
To comply with SBP guidelines on Risk Management during the year 2014 risk function of the Bank 
was made more robust. 

Whilst the State Bank has exempted the Bank from implementation of Basel-II till its privatization 
lending decisions are subjected to extensive and diligent credit risk evaluation and assessment 
process. Obligor, facility and guarantor internal credit risk rating system is in place and regular part 
of credit processing. Keeping in view the nature of SME lending, quick turn around time and 
efficiency, credit risk officers have been placed at branch level wherever possible. Above a certain 
limit fixed for every branch, proposals are being reviewed at Head Office. Compliance with the State 
Bank's regulations, policies and Bank's own credit policies are ensured through risk review function. 

The management endeavoured that bank's operation and credit activities conform to the prudential 
regulations and SBP instructions are strictly followed and efforts are consistently made to 
incorporate good business practices in fulfilling the risk function. 
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Privatization of Bank
The Bank is on active agenda of privatization by Privatization Commission (PC) since 2006. The 
process of privatization initiated in the year 2007 continued over the year 2008 and, as part of the 
privatization process of the Bank, due diligence exercise was completed by the bidders in 2008. The 
bidding Companies showed no interest in bidding process, since then no further progress has been 
made on the privatization of the bank. Under the circumstances of uncertainty about the future 
corporate and operational status of the bank and restrictions on business expansion by the PC and 
SBP, it is a challenge for management to undertake current business operations on self sustainable 
basis.

Board has advised the management to take up the issue with MoF for supporting the bank through 
equity injection. The matter is being actively pursued.

Board of Directors
Board of Directors consisted of seven directors nominated by the Federal Government. The Board 
meets frequently and ensures to meet at least every quarter. 

Board held five meetings during 2014 attendance of which is given hereunder:

Directors                                        Meetings Attended
Mr.  Majyd Aziz Balagamwala             1

Mr.  Nasser Durrani             3

Sardar Ahmed Nawaz Sukhera                 2

Mr.  Muhammad Adnan Jalil             5

Mr.  Muhammad Tanveer Butt             5

Mr.  Zahid Oosman             1

Mr.  Zarar Haider             5

Mr.  Ihsan ul Haq Khan             2

          
Board has constituted five sub-committees namely Audit Committee, Risk Management 
Committee, Human Resource Committee, Nomination Committee and Procurement Committee. 

Audit Committee
This committee consisted of three non-executive directors and has been formed to assist the Board in 
fulfilling its statutory and fiduciary responsibilities. This committee is advisory in nature and does 
not perform any management function. It assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities and in 
complying with good governance. During the year 2014, four meetings of Board Audit Committee 
were held. Attendance in these meetings was as follows:

                                                                                                                                                                              

Directors                                         Meetings Attended
Mr.  Muhammad Adnan Jalil           3

Mr.  Zahid Oosman           1

Mr.  Muhammad Tanveer Butt           4

Mr.  Zarar Haider           4

Mr.  Muhammad Adnan Jalil replaced Mr Zahid Oosman as member and chairman during the year.

Risk Management Committee                                                    
This Committee consisted of three non-executive directors and it assists the Board in measurement 
and mitigation of different risks. During the year 2014, three meetings of Board Risk Management 
Committee were held. Attendance in these meetings was as follows:                                                                                                                                                                                                   

; 
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Directors                                       Meetings Attended
Mr.  Muhammad Tanveer Butt           3

Mr.  Muhammad Adnan Jalil                                3

Sardar Ahmad Nawaz Sukhera                   1

Mr.  Muhammad Alamgir Chaudhry                  1

Mr. Muhammad Alamgir Chaudhry replaced Mr. Sardar Ahmad Nawaz Sukhera as member during 
the year.

Human Resource Committee
Board Human Resource Committee comprising three directors has been formed to assist the Board 
in all staff related matters, policies and benefits including compensation. During the year 2014, three 
meetings of Board Human Resource Committee were held. Attendance in these meetings was as 
follows:                                                                                                                                                                                         

Directors                                      Meetings Attended
Mr.  Muhammad Adnan Jalil                         3

Mr.  Muhammad Tanvir Butt                     3

Mr.  Majyd Aziz Balagamwala                              1

Mr.  Nasser Durrani              1

Mr.  Ihsan ul Haq Khan           2

Mr.  Majyd Aziz Balagamwala retired while Mr.  Ihsan ul Haq Khan replaced Mr. Nasser Durrani 
during the year.

Procurement Committee
Board procurement Committee comprising three directors has been formed to prepare, review and 
recommend to the Board, procurement related policies to ensure transparency in procurement 
transactions and in dealing with suppliers. During the year 2014, one meeting of Board Procurement 
Committee was held. Attendance in this meetings was as follows:

Directors                                       Meetings Attended
Mr.  Muhammad Adnan Jalil                  1

Mr.  Nasser Durrani          0

Mr.  Zarar Haider                        1

Mr.  Ihsan ul Haq Khan          1

Mr.  Ihsan ul Haq Khan replaced Mr.  Nasser Durrani during the year.                                                                                                                                                                                      

Nomination Committee
This Committee consists of two non-executive directors and it assists the Board in identification and 
recommendation of independent directors on the Board. It meets on need basis. No meeting was 
held of Board Nomination Committee during the year 2014.

Corporate Governance and Financial Reporting Framework
SME Bank is committed to observe good corporate governance and has adopted the recently 
promulgated governance framework for pubic sector companies. The Directors have ensured that 
adequate arrangements are made to meet the financial recording and reporting parameters and are 
pleased to state that:

proper books of accounts as required by Companies Ordinance have been maintained;

applicable international financial reporting standards have been followed in preparation of 
annual accounts;

SME Bank Ltd
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The accounts have been prepared on going concern basis and the Bank has adopted prudent 
accounting policies and used sound accounting estimates;

Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in preparation of financial 
statements and accounting estimates. Any departure has been adequately disclosed and 
explained;

the financial statements prepared by the management of the Bank present fairly, state of affairs 
of the Bank as at December 31, 2014, the results of its operations for the period then ended, cash 
flow and changes in equity;

the appointment of chairman and other members of board and the terms of their appointment 
along with the fee/remuneration adopted are in the best interests of the Bank as well as in line 
with the best practices.  

appropriate systems of internal control have been put in place for managing significant risks, 
with adequate arrangements for its effective implementation, continuous review and 
monitoring;

the Board of Directors is satisfied with Bank's ability to continue as a going concern;

there are no outstanding statutory payments on account of taxes, duties and levies as on 
December 31, 2014, except as disclosed in the financial statements;

the value of investments held for staff funds is reflected in note 34 of notes to the accounts;

Bank has complied with the provisions of Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) 
Rules, 2013 and there has been no material departure from the best practices of corporate 
Governance. 

Key Operating and financial data of last six years is available in annual Reports. 

Shareholding Pattern
The statement showing pattern of shareholding as at December 31, 2014, as required under Code of 
Corporate Governance is annexed.

Auditors
The existing auditors, M/s KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co, Chartered Accountants, will retire at conclusion 

thof 13  Annual General Meeting. Board and its Audit Committee have recommended re-appointment 
of retiring auditors. 

Appreciation
While the Board appreciates the efforts of the management and staff trying to steer the Bank out of 
the current situation, it also highlights the need of more efforts for improving the recovery drive and 
for enhancing disbursements. The Board would also like to thank State Bank of Pakistan and other 
regulatory authorities for their continued support and guidance and the shareholders for the trust 
and confidence reposed in us. 

_______________
Chairman

 (of the meeting)

Loss per share
The basic and diluted after tax loss per share for the year 2014 is Rs. 1.62. (2013: Rs.1.80)
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Shareholding Pattern

The pattern of shareholding as at December 31, 2014 is given below;

Mr. Muhammad Adnan Jalil

Mr. Ihsan ul Haq Khan

Mr. Muhammad Tanvir Butt

Mr. Zarar Haider

Mr. Muhammad Alamgir Chaudhry

Mr. Majyd Aziz Blagamwala (Now retired)

Mr. Zahid Oosman (Now retired)
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I. This statement is being presented to comply with Regulation G-1 of the Prudential Regulations for 

Corporate/ Commercial Banking issued by State Bank of Pakistan and the Public Sector Companies 

(Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013 (here in after called “the Rules”) issued for the purpose of establishing 

a frame work of good governance, where by a public sector company is managed in compliance with the 

best practices of public sector governance.

II. SME Bank Ltd (the Bank) has complied with the provisions of the Rules in the following manner:

SCHEDULE I
[See paragraph 2(1)]

                                                                           

with Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013

For the year ended December 31, 2014

Annual Report 2014
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with Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013

For the year ended December 31, 2014

SME Bank Ltd
small business - Big opportunities

We confirm that all other material requirements envisaged in the Rules have been complied with except for the 

following, toward which reasonable progress is being made by the Bank to seek compliance by the end of next 

accounting year.

SCHEDULE II
[See paragraph 2(3)]

                                                                           

Explanation for Non-Compliance

Annual Report 2014
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Statement of Internal Control 
For the year ended December 31, 2014

The management of SME Bank recognizes its responsibility to establish and maintain a 
sound system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance to achieve the following 
objectives. 

Efficiency and effectiveness of operations
Compliance with applicable laws and regulations
Reliability of financial reporting 

The internal control system encompasses policies and procedures relating to all processes, 
products and activities of the Bank's operations. The internal control policies and 
procedures are being reviewed by an independent internal audit function reporting 
directly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Director.

In management's assessment, these systems, policies and procedures provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of those controls and reports produced thereon. 
It recognizes the fact that these system are designed to mitigate and manage, rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The board is fully committed to ensure the existence of an effective system of internal 
control and risk management and continuously reviews and evaluates the adequacy and 
integrity of those systems. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) aims to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with the applicable financial reporting standards. We 
have endeavored to follow the guidelines issued by State Bank of Pakistan on Internal 
Control.  

The system of internal control being followed by the bank is considered adequate and 
sound in design and is being effectively implemented and monitored to give reasonable 
assurance against misstatement or loss. 

Chief Financial Officer 
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We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the best practices contained in Public 
Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013 ("the Code") prepared by the Board of 
Directors of SME Bank Limited ("the Bank") for the year ended 31 December 2014 to comply with 
Regulation G-1 of the Prudential regulations for Corporate/Commercial Banking issued by State 
Bank of Pakistan and the requirements of provisions of Public Sector Companies (Corporate 
Governance) Rules, 2013.

The responsibility for compliance with the Code is that of the Board of Directors of the Bank. Our 
responsibility is to review, to the extent where such compliance can be objectively verified, whether 
the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Bank's compliance with the provisions of the 
Code and report if it does not, and to highlight any noncompliance with the requirements of the 
Code. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Bank's personnel and review of various 
documents prepared by the Bank to comply with the Code.
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Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that the Statement 
of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Bank's compliance, in all material aspects with the 
Code as applicable to the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Further, we highlight instances of non-compliance with the requirements of the Code as reflected in 
Schedule II to the Statement of Compliance.
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Review Report to the Members On Statement of Compliance
with the Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Engagement Partner

Muhammad Rehan Chughtai

Islamabad
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We have audited the annexed unconsolidated statement of financial position of SME Bank Limited (“the 
Bank”)as at December 31, 2014 and the related unconsolidated profit and loss account, unconsolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, unconsolidated cash flow statement and unconsolidated statement of 
changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof (here-in-after referred to as the 'financial 
statements') for the year then ended, in which are incorporated the unaudited certified returns from the branches 
except for  11 branches which have been audited by us and we state that except for the matter as stated in 
paragraph (a) below, we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge 
and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

It is the responsibility of the Bank's Board of Directors to establish and maintain a system of internal control, 
and prepare and present the above said statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards and 
the requirements of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 (LVII of 1962), and the Companies Ordinance, 
1984 (XLVII of 1984).Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these statements based on our audit. 

Except for the matter as stated in paragraph (a) below, we conducted our audit in accordance with the 
International Standards on Auditing as applicable in Pakistan. These standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of any material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting policies and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as, evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our qualified opinion and, after due verification, which in the case 
of loans and advances covered more than 60% of the total loans and advances of the Bank, we report that:

a)       The Bank has investment in SME Leasing Limited (SMEL) which is carried in these financial statements 
at Rs. 70.2 million and has outstanding running finance exposure of Rs. 155 million at the balance sheet 
date. SMEL continues to operate on a net loss basis and therefore the recoverability of investment and 
running finance exposure appears doubtful of recovery. Management has shared with us its assessment 
of the recoverability of investment and running finance however this does not take into account certain 
necessary factors. Accordingly we are unable to determine whether any impairment might be necessary 
against the carrying amount of the Bank's investment in SMEL and running finance exposure and 
possible effect on accumulated loss and capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2014.

b)    As explained in note 14.3 the management is considering to approach Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan for extension in time period and further as mentioned by the management in the 
said note, the State Bank of Pakistan has allowed the Bank to record a provision of 25% against the 
carrying amount of TREC upto March 2015 and if the matter is not resolved to record 100% provision 
thereafter. Accordingly the Bank has not recorded impairment against the carrying value of TREC of 
Lahore Stock Exchange of Rs. 21.56 million. Had the impairment been recorded, loss after tax for the 
year and the accumulated losses would have increased by Rs. 21.56 million and the capital adequacy 
ratio of the Bank as at 31 December would have reduced by 0.7%.

c) Except for the effect and possible effect of the matters stated in paragraph (a) and (b) above, in our 
opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Bank as required by the Companies Ordinance, 
1984 (XLVII of 1984), and the returns referred to above received from the branches have been found 
adequate for the purposes of our audit;  

d) in our opinion:
i) except for the effect and possible effect of the matters stated in paragraph (a) and (b) above, the 

unconsolidated statement of financial position and unconsolidated profit and loss account 
together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Banking 
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Companies Ordinance, 1962 (LVII of 1962) and the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 
1984), and are in agreement with the books of account and are further in accordance with 
accounting policies consistently applied;

ii)            the expenditure incurred during the year was for the purpose of the Bank's business; and

iii)           the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure incurred during the year were in 
accordance with the objects of the Bank and the transactions of the Bank which have come to 
our notice have been within the powers of the Bank;

e)       except for the effect and possible effect of the matters stated in paragraph (a) and (b) above, in our opinion 
and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the unconsolidated 
statement of financial position, unconsolidated profit and loss account, unconsolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, unconsolidated cash flow statement and unconsolidated statement of changes in 
equity together with the notes forming part thereof conform with approved accounting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan, and give the information required by the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 
(LVII of 1962) and the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 1984), in the manner so required and 
respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Bank's affairs as at December 31, 2014 and its true 
balance of the loss, its cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended; and

f)       in our opinion, Zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980), 
was deducted by the Bank and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of that 
Ordinance.

Without further qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 6.4 in the unconsolidated financial statements 
with indicates that the Bank continues to operate in net loss situation and notwithstanding the matters referred 
to in paragraph (a) and (b) above, has incurred a net loss after tax of Rs. 387.07 million and its accumulated 
losses stand at Rs. 1.973 billion as of the reporting date. Further the Bank has shortfall of Rs. 1.58 billion on 31 
December 2014 in meeting the minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) as prescribed by the 
State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) on the basis of amounts reported in the unconsolidated statement of financial 
position. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 6.4, indicate the existence of material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. However the 
Bank's management believes that going concern assumption is appropriate basis to prepare these 
unconsolidated financial statements since the Government of Pakistan (GoP), holds 94% shares of the Bank 
through Ministry of Finance (MoF) and has made a budget allocation of Rs. 500 million to provide further 
equity contribution to the Bank, notwithstanding that this allocation has been reduced from previously 
allocated budget of Rs. 2 billion for the year 2012-2013, and Rs. 1 billion for the year 2013-2014. Further SBP 
has allowed exemption to the Bank from meeting the minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of 
losses) till 30 June 2015. With regards to reduction in budget allocation of Rs 500 million by GoP, the 
management is contemplating to approach MoF for increase in equity contribution. Further keeping in view the 
past trend and the fact that the Bank is in the privatization list of GoP, the management believes that SBP will 
further extend the exemption in case the Bank is not able to meet the minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 
billion (net of losses) till 30June 2015.

Islamabad

07 March 2015
KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Engagement Partner

Muhammad Rehan Chughtai
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 SME Bank Limited (the Bank) is a public limited company incorporated in Pakistan on 
October 30, 2001 under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 having its registered office at 56-F, 
Nazim-ud-Din Road, F-6/1, Blue Area Islamabad. The Bank obtained its business 
commencement certificate on April 16, 2005 which became effective from the date of its 
issue. The Bank is a Scheduled Commercial Bank engaged in the business of banking with 
the primary objective to support and develop Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) sector in 
Pakistan by providing necessary financial assistance and business support services on 
sustainable basis. The Bank is operating through a network of  13 Commercial banking 
branches. Based on the latest credit rating report dated February 27, 2014 issued by PACRA 
Credit Rating Company Limited, credit rating of the Bank was "BBB-" (Triple B minus) in the 
long term and "A3" (A three) in the short term.

In terms of the provisions of the State Bank of Pakistan BSD circular No. 7 of 2009, the Bank 
was required to increase its paid up capital  (net of losses) as at December 31, 2014 up to Rs. 
10 billion. The State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) has granted exemption from meeting the 
enhanced Minimum Capital Requirement and the Bank is allowed to operate with 
minimum paid up capital (net of losses) of Rs. 2 billion till privatization of the Bank. Further 
State Bank of Pakistan also has granted extension to the Bank till 30 June 2015, from meeting 
the reduced requirement of maintaining minimum paid up capital (net of losses) of Rs. 2 
billion.

1.2 Amalgamation of defunct RDFC and SBFC

The Federal Government promulgated the Regional Development Finance Corporation 
(RDFC) and Small Business Finance Corporation (SBFC) Amalgamation and Conversion 
Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance 2001) setting forth the mechanism of amalgamation of 
defunct RDFC and SBFC. Both these entities were Development Financial Institutions 
(DFIs). In pursuance of the Ordinance 2001, Finance Division, Ministry of Finance issued an 
Order (SRO (1) 2001) dated December 29, 2001 setting forth the scheme of amalgamation of 
RDFC and SBFC with the Bank effective January 1, 2002. Pursuant to this scheme entire 
assets and liabilities of defunct RDFC and SBFC as at December 31, 2001 were transferred to 
the Bank at fair value. These two institutions stand dissolved and ceased to exist effective 
January 1, 2002. The Bank allotted its shares to the share holders of defunct RDFC and SBFC 
in proportion to their shareholding therein based on the fair value of net assets of defunct 
RDFC and SBFC on December  31, 2001. 

2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

2.1 These unconsolidated financial statements have been presented in accordance with the 
requirements of format prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan's BSD Circular No. 4 dated 
February 17, 2006.

2.2 These unconsolidated financial statements are separate financial statements of the Bank in 

which the investment in subsidiary is stated at cost and has not been accounted for on the 

basis of reported results and net assets of the investees which is done in consolidated 
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financial statements.

2.3 Items included in the unconsolidated financial statements are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the Bank operates. The unconsolidated 
financial statements are presented in Pak. Rupee, which is the Bank's functional currency. 
Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand of rupees unless otherwise stated. 

3 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

3.1 These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
approved accounting  standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of the 
Companies Ordinance, 1984  and the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962. Approved 
accounting standards comprise of such International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) , provisions of and directives 
issued under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 and the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 
and the directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan. In case requirements differ, the 
provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Ordinance, 1984, the Banking 
Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan shall 
prevail.

                                 
International Accounting Standard 39, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement", International Accounting Standard 40, "Investment Property" and 
International Financial Reporting Standard 7,"Financial Instruments: Disclosure" are not 
applicable to banking companies in Pakistan. Accordingly, the requirements of these 
Standards have not been considered in the preparation of these unconsolidated financial 
statements. However, investments have been classified and valued in accordance with the 
requirements prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan through various circulars.

3.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards that are 
not yet effective

The following standards, amendments and interpretations of approved accounting 
standards will be effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2015:

- Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” Employee contributions – a practical approach 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014). The practical expedient 
addresses an issue that arose when amendments were made in 2011 to the previous pension 
accounting requirements. The amendments introduce a relief that will reduce the 
complexity and burden of accounting for certain contributions from employees or third 
parties. The amendments are relevant only to defined benefit plans that involve 
contributions from employees or third parties meeting certain criteria. The amendment has 
no impact on the Bank's unconsolidated financial statements.

- Amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets and IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) introduce severe 
restrictions on the use of revenue-based amortization for intangible assets and explicitly 
state that revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used for property, plant and 
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equipment. The rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based amortisation 
methods for intangible assets is inappropriate can be overcome only when revenue and the 
consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are ‘highly correlated’, or when 
the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue. The amendments are not likely to 
have an impact on Bank’s unconsolidated financial statements.

- IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ – (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2015) replaces the part of IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements. IFRS 10 introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be 

consolidated. The single model to be applied in the control analysis requires that an investor 

controls an investee when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee. IFRS 10 has made consequential changes to IAS 27 which is now called 

‘Separate Financial Statements’ and will deal with only separate financial statements. 

Certain further amendments have been made to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 clarifying the 

requirements relating to accounting for investment entities and would be effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The amendment has no impact on the 

Bank's unconsolidated financial statements.

- IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2015) replaces IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’. Firstly, it carves out, from IAS 31 jointly 
controlled entities, those cases in which although there is a separate vehicle, that separation 
is ineffective in certain ways. These arrangements are treated similarly to jointly controlled 
assets/operations under IAS 31 and are now called joint operations. Secondly, the remainder 
of IAS 31 jointly controlled entities, now called joint ventures, are stripped of the free choice 
of using the equity method or proportionate consolidation; they must now always use the 
equity method. IFRS 11 has also made consequential changes in IAS 28 which has now been 
named ‘Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures’. The amendments requiring business 
combination accounting to be applied to acquisitions of interests in a joint operation that 
constitutes a business are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
The amendment has no impact on the Bank's unconsolidated financial statements.

                                                
- IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities’ (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2015) combines the disclosure requirements for entities that have interests 
in subsidiaries, joint arrangements (i.e. joint operations or joint ventures), associates and/or 
unconsolidated structured entities, into one place. The amendment has no impact on the 
Bank's unconsolidated financial statements.

- IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2015) defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets 
out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 explains how to measure 
fair value when it is required by other IFRSs. It does not introduce new fair value 
measurements, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value 
measurements that currently exist in certain standards. The Bank is currently in the process 
of assessing the impact of this standards on its unconsolidated financial statements.

- Amendment to IAS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statement’ (effective for annual periods 
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beginning on or after 1 January 2016). The amendments to IAS 27 will allow entities to use 
the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
in their separate financial statements.

- Agriculture: Bearer Plants [Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 41] (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016). Bearer plants are now in the scope of IAS 16 Property, 
Plant and Equipment for measurement and disclosure purposes. Therefore, a company can 
elect to measure bearer plants at cost. However, the produce growing on bearer plants will 
continue to be measured at fair value less costs to sell under IAS 41 Agriculture. A bearer 
plant is a plant that: is used in the supply of agricultural produce; is expected to bear 
produce for more than one period; and has a remote likelihood of being sold as agricultural 
produce. Before maturity, bearer plants are accounted for in the same way as self-
constructed items of property, plant and equipment during construction. The amendment 
has no impact on the unconsolidated financial statements of the Bank.

- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) [effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2016]. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is 
recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or 
not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not 
constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. The amendment has no 
impact on the unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles (most amendments will apply 
prospectively for annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014). The new cycle of 
improvements contain amendments to the following standards:

- IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. IFRS 2 has been amended to clarify the definition of ‘vesting 
condition’ by separately defining ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’. The 
amendment has no impact on the unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

- IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’. These amendments clarify the classification and 
measurement of contingent consideration in a business combination. The amendment has 
no impact on the unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

- IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ has been amended to explicitly require the disclosure of 
judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria. The amendment has 
no impact on the unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

- Amendments to IAS 16’Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. The 
amendments clarify the requirements of the revaluation model in IAS 16 and IAS 38, 
recognizing that the restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortization) is not always 
proportionate to the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset. The amendment has 
no impact on the unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

- IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosure’. The definition of related party is extended to include a 
management entity that provides key management personnel services to the reporting 
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entity, either directly or through a group entity. This amendment has no impact on the 
unconsolidated financial statements of the Bank except for certain additional disclosures. 

- IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’. IAS 40 has been amended to clarify that an entity should: 
assess whether an acquired property is an investment property under IAS 40 and perform a 
separate assessment under IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of the investment 
property constitutes a business combination. The amendment has no impact on the 
unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 cycles (amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016). The new cycle of improvements contain amendments 
to the following standards: 

- IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. IFRS 5 is amended to 
clarify that if an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset (or disposal group) i.e. 
reclassifies an asset from held for distribution to owners to held for sale or vice versa without 
any time lag, then such change in classification is considered as continuation of the original 
plan of disposal and if an entity determines that an asset (or disposal group) no longer meets 
the criteria to be classified as held for distribution, then it ceases held for distribution 
accounting in the same way as it would cease held for sale accounting. The amendment has 
no impact on the unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

                                
- IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments- Disclosures’. IFRS 7 is amended to clarify when servicing 

arrangements are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing involvement in 
transferred financial assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety. IFRS 7 is 
also amended to clarify that additional disclosures required by ‘Disclosures: Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS7)’ are not specifically 
required for inclusion in condensed interim financial statements for all interim periods. The 
amendment has no impact on the unconsolidated financial statement of the Bank.

- IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. IAS 19 is amended to clarify that high quality corporate bonds or 
government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in the same 
currency in which the benefits are to be paid. 

- IAS 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’. IAS 34 is amended to clarify that certain disclosures, if 
they are not included in the notes to interim financial statements and disclosed elsewhere 
should be cross referred. The amendment has no impact on the unconsolidated financial 
statement of the Bank except for certain additional disclosures.

4 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

4.1 These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified for certain investments which are carried at fair value, and defined 
benefit pension and gratuity plan, defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme, unfunded 
compensated absences and benevolent fund which are carried at present value of defined 
benefit obligations net of fair value of plan assets, wherever applicable.
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4.2 Use of critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with approved 
accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of certain accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 
the Bank's accounting policies. The Bank uses estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimate will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are as follow:

i) classification of investments (note 5.2)
ii) provision/ impairment against investments (note 5.2), advances (note 5.4) and other 

assets (note 5.6)
iii) valuation and impairment of available for sale securities (note 5.2 and 5.6)
iv) useful life and residual value of property and equipments, intangible assets

(note 5.5)
v) taxation (note 5.8)
vi) staff retirement benefits (note 5.9)

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

5.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and balances with treasury banks, balances 
with other banks and call money lendings.

5.2 Investments

Investments other than those categorised as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair 
value which includes transactions costs associated with the investments. Investments 
classified as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are 
expensed in the profit and loss account.

All regular way purchases / sales of investment are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date 
the Bank commits to purchase / sell the investments. Regular way purchases or sales of 
investment require delivery of securities within the time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the market place.

The Bank has classified its investment portfolio, except for investments in subsidiary into 
‘held-for-trading’, ‘held-to-maturity’ and ‘available-for-sale’ as follows:

Held for trading 

These are securities which are acquired with the intention to trade by taking advantage of 
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short-term market / interest rate movements and are to be sold within 90 days. These are 
carried at market value, with the related unrealized gain / (loss) on revaluation being taken 
to profit and loss account.

Held to maturity 

These represent investments acquired by the Bank with the intention and ability to hold 
them upto maturity. These are carried at amortized cost less impairment if any. Impairment 
in debt securities is determined in accordance with the requirements of Prudential 
Regulations issued by SBP.

Available for sale 

These are investments that do not fall under the held-for-trading or held-to-maturity 
categories. These are carried at market value except in case of unquoted securities where 
market value is not available, which are carried at cost less provision for diminution in 
value, if any. Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation is taken to ‘surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of 
assets’ account shown below equity. Provision for diminution in value of investments in 
respect of unquoted shares is calculated with reference to book value of the same. On 
derecognition or impairment in quoted available-for-sale investments, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously reported as 'surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of assets' below equity is 
included in the profit and loss account for the period.

Provision for diminution in values of securities (other than term finance certificates) is made 
after considering impairment if any in their values, where the decline in prices of available 
for sale equity securities is significant or prolonged, it is considered impaired and included 
in unconsolidated profit and loss account. Provision for diminution in the value of term 
finance certificates is made as per Prudential Regulations issued by State Bank of Pakistan.  

Held-for-trading and quoted available-for-sale securities are marked to market with 
reference to ready quotes on Reuters page (PKRV) or MUFAP or the Stock Exchanges, as the 
case may be.

Investment in subsidiary

Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less impairment, if any. However the investment 
in subsidiary is not marked to market as per prudential regulations issued by SBP.

5.3 Agreements for sale and purchase of securities (repo and reverse repo)

Securities sold under repurchase agreement (repo) are retained in the unconsolidated 
financial statements as investments and a liability for consideration received is included in 
borrowings. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as mark-up 
expense and recognized over the period of contract.

Securities purchased under agreement to resell (reverse repo) are included in lendings to 
financial institutions. The difference between  purchase and resale price is treated as mark-
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up income and  recognized over the period of  the contract. 

5.4 Advances 

Advances are stated net off specific and general provisions. Provisions are made in 
accordance with the requirements of Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP and charged 
to the profit and loss account. These regulations prescribe an age based criteria (as 
supplemented by subjective evaluation of advances by the banks) for classification of non-
performing loans and advances and computing provision / allowance there against. Such 
regulations also require the Bank to maintain general provision / allowance against its Small 
Entity (SE) advances portfolio at specified percentage of such portfolio. 

Advances are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

5.5 Capital work-in-progress, operating fixed assets, depreciation and amortization

Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. These are transferred 
to specific assets as and when assets are available for use.

Operating fixed assets-owned

These are stated at cost less impairment losses and accumulated depreciation except for 
leasehold land. Land is stated at cost less impairment, if any.

Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to unconsolidated profit and loss account as 
and when incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized.

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged on straight line method at the rates given in note 12.2, commencing 
from the month in which the asset is available for use. No depreciation is charged in the 
month of disposal of the asset. The residual value, useful life and depreciation method is 
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Gains or losses on disposal of property and equipment are taken to the unconsolidated 
profit and loss account.

Assets subject to finance lease

Assets subject to finance lease are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation at the rates 
similar to the bank's owned assets and impairment loss (if any). The outstanding obligation 
under finance lease less financial charges allocated to future periods is shown as liability. 
Finance charges are calculated at interest rates implicit in the lease and are charged to 
unconsolidated profit and loss account in the period in which these are incurred. 
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Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognized only if it is identifiable, the Bank has control over the asset, 
it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably.

All amortizable intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are initially measured at 
cost and are amortized on a straight line basis at the rate given in note 12.3 commencing from 
the month when these assets are available for use. Intangible assets are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. The residual value, useful life and 
amortization method is reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

5.6 Impairment

The carrying amount of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment, 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the 
assets may not be recoverable.  If such indication exists,  and where the carrying value 
exceeds the estimated recoverable amount,  assets are written down to their recoverable 
amount. The resulting impairment loss is taken to the unconsolidated profit and loss 
account. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined net of 
depreciation/amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

The available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or 
prolonged decline in the value below its cost. Impairment loss is recognized in 
unconsolidated profit & loss account.

5.7 Deposits

Deposits are recorded at the nominal values of proceeds received. Markup accrued on 
deposits is recognised separately as part of other liabilities and is charged to unconsolidated 
profit and loss account on a time proportion basis.

5.8 Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the unconsolidated profit and loss account, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or below equity, in which case it 
is recognised in other comprehensive income or below equity.

Current

Provision for current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year using 
tax rates applicable at the date of unconsolidated statement of financial position and any 
adjustment to tax payable for previous years.

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all major 
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temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit at the 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse based on the tax 
rates that have been enacted. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilized. Deferred tax asset is reduced to 
the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefits will be realized.

The Bank also recognizes deferred tax asset/ liability on deficit/ surplus on revaluation of 
investments which is adjusted against the related deficit/ surplus in accordance with the 
requirements of International Accounting Standard on ‘Income Taxes’ (IAS 12). However, 
keeping in view the future profitable operation and uncertain status of privatization of the 
bank; deferred tax assets has only been recognized to the extent of deferred tax liability as at 
balance sheet date.

The Bank takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation 
authorities. Instances where the Bank’s views differ from the views taken by the income tax 
department at the assessment stage and where the Bank considers that its view on items of 
material nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities.

5.9 Staff retirement and other benefits

The Bank operates following staff retirement and other benefit schemes for its employees:

Defined benefit plan- Pension and gratuity scheme

Fully funded defined benefit pension and gratuity scheme for permanent employees. 
Contributions are made in accordance with the actuarial valuation which is carried out 
periodically using 'Projected Unit Credit Method'.  All actuarial gains and losses are 
recognized immediately through other comprehensive income. 

Defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme

The Bank operates a defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme for its contractual 
employees. The obligation under the defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme is 
recognized on the basis of actuarial valuation using the 'Projected Unit Credit Method'. 

Benevolent fund

The Bank also operates a contributory benevolent fund for all its eligible employees (defined 
benefit scheme). Contributions to this fund were made equally by the Bank and employees 
till March 2002. Thereafter it is wholly contributed by the Bank at the rate of 2% of basic 
salary with a ceiling of Rs. 200 per month per employee. Annual contribution towards the 
defined benefit scheme are made on the basis of actuarial advice using the Projected Unit 
Credit Method.

Compensated absences

The Bank provides compensated absences, an unfunded scheme, as per entitlement to all its
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permanent and contractual employees. For its eligible employees, related provision is made 
in accordance with actuarial valuation. Provision for the year is charged to unconsolidated 
profit and loss account. The amount recognized in unconsolidated statement of financial 
position represents present value of defined benefit obligation. 

Defined benefit plans are provided to employees of the Bank. Calculations in this respect 
require assumptions to be made of future outcomes, the principal ones being in respect of 
increase in remuneration, the expected long-term return on plan assets and the discount rate 
used to convert future cash flows to current values. Calculations are sensitive to changes in 
the underlying assumptions.

5.10 Revenue recognition

5.10.1 Advances

Advances disbursed by SME Bank Limited:

Markup/ interest on performing advances is recognized on a time proportion basis over the 
term of loan and advances. Markup/ interest/ penal markup recoverable on non performing 
advances is recognized on receipt basis. Mark-up / interest on rescheduled / restructured 
advances and investments is recognised as permitted by the regulations of the SBP.

Advances disbursed by defunct RDFC and defunct SBFC :

Advances and related markup are suspended. Markup/ interest on advances is recognized 
on receipt basis.

5.10.2 Return on investments

Return on investments is recognized on a time proportion basis except on classified 
investment which is recognized on receipt basis. Any premium paid or discount received on 
purchase of securities is amortized through unconsolidated profit and loss account over the 
remaining period of maturity on time apportionment basis.

5.10.3 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the Bank's right to receive the dividend is established. 

5.10.4 Interest, fee, brokerage and commission

Interest, fee, brokerage and commission, profit on other investments, bank deposits and 
staff loans is recognized on accrual basis. Income on non-funded facilities (fee, commission, 
documentation charges etc.) is recognized on receipt basis except commission on bank 
guarantees which is recognized on accrual basis. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014
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5.11 Off setting

Financial assets and liabilities are off set and the net amount is reported in the 
unconsolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to 
set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

5.12 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset are capitalized. Other borrowing costs are 
recognized as an expense in the period in which it incurs. 

5.13 Provisions

Provisions are recorded when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of obligation. Provision for guarantee claims and other off balance sheet obligations 
is recognized when intimated and reasonable certainty exists to settle the obligations. 
Expected recoveries are recognized by debiting customer accounts. Charge to 
unconsolidated profit and loss account is stated net off expected recoveries. 

5.14 Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Bank 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset is 
derecognised where (a) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or (b) the 
Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under 
a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (i) the Bank has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, or (ii) the Bank has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risk and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. A 
financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the financial assets and financial 
liabilities is taken to income currently.

5.15 Segment reporting

A segment is the distinguishable component of the Bank that is subject to risks and rewards 
that are different from those of other segments. A business segment is one that is engaged 
either in providing certain products or services, whereas a geographical segment is one 
engaged in providing products and services within a particular economic environment. 
Segment information is presented as per the Bank's functional structure and the guidance of 
the State Bank of Pakistan. The Bank's primary format of reporting is based on business 
segments:

For the year ended December 31, 2014
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5.15.1 Business segments

Trading and sales

This segment undertakes the Bank's treasury, money market and capital market activities.

Commercial banking

It includes loans, deposits and other transactions with individuals/ staff, small and medium 
enterprises and corporate customers.

5.15.2 Geographical segments

The Bank operates only in Pakistan.

5.16 Appropriation to reserves

Dividend and appropriation to reserves (except appropriation required by law) after the 
balance sheet date are recognized as liability in the Bank's financial statement in the year in 
which these are approved.

6 FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

6.1 The Government of Pakistan (GoP) assisted by Asian Development Bank (ADB) is working 
on SME Sector Development Programme (SME SDP). Loan agreement for this programme 
between GoP and ADB and project agreement between ADB, SBP, Small and Medium 
Enterprise Development Authority (SMEDA) and the Bank have been signed on February 
10, 2004. This programme, apart from other aspects on policy matrix relating to SME sector 
of Pakistan, also envisaged restructuring of SME Bank Limited.  Salient features of the 
restructuring of the Bank are given below:

i) Adjustment of accumulated balances due from SBP on account of its share in profits 
and losses of the Bank against credit lines provided by SBP;

ii) Payment of Rs 3 billion to SBP before January 1, 2004 against outstanding credit 
lines and conversion of balance of remaining credit lines into a loan repayable in full 
by June 30, 2006; 

iii) Raising the paid-up capital to Rs 1,100 million by issuing additional shares to GoP;

iv) The Ministry of Finance (MoF) shall ensure that SBP's shareholding in the Bank is 
terminated through the purchase of SBP held shares at nominal value by 
shareholders or otherwise;

v) 100% provision to be made against non performing financial assistance extended by 
the defunct RDFC and SBFC prior to January 1, 2002 which provision to be adjusted 
against SBP credit lines. SBP will recover this amount from proceeds of ADB loan to 
GoP; 

For the year ended December 31, 2014
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vi) Reduction in the number of recovery branches, staff rationalization through 
Voluntary Separation Scheme (VSS), human resource audit and hiring of new 
professional staff on merit;

vii) Reimbursement by GoP of costs related to VSS launched for all regular employees;

viii) SBP to issue a banking license to the Bank on compliance with all conditions of 
restructuring and applicable SBP regulations. The commercial banking operations 
will be separate from the recovery operations of the defunct RDFC and SBFC 
portfolio and the two operations will be run as independent units within the Bank; 
and 

ix) Privatization of the Bank by June 2006.

6.2 Current status of the above referred financial restructuring is given below:

i) Accumulated balances of Rs 3,275.752 million due from SBP on account of its share 
in profits and losses of the Bank have been adjusted against credit lines provided by 
SBP; 

ii) Rs. 7,393 million has been paid to SBP since 2003, to fully adjust the loan liability.

iii) Paid-up capital has been increased to Rs. 2,393 million by issue of 73,502,453 
additional shares of Rs 10 each to GoP without right issue in 2004, issue of 40,000,000 
additional shares of Rs 10 each to GoP without right issue in 2005, issue of 50,000,000 
additional bonus shares of Rs 10 each to GoP without right issue in 2006 and issue of 
39,250,700 additional shares of Rs. 10 each to GoP without right issue in 2007. 
Proceeds against issue of additional shares in 2004 were paid by GoP to SBP against 
the Bank's loan balance due to SBP;

iv) Provision of Rs 1,283.196 million against non performing financial assistance 
extended by the defunct RDFC and SBFC was adjusted against credit lines of SBP in 
2003;

v) VSS was approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on November 7, 2003.  707 
employees were relieved under the scheme upto December 31, 2005 and the 
aggregate reported cost for 707 employees was Rs. 1,764.268 million, which has 
been received by the bank by March 31, 2007;

vi) Human resource technical audit has been completed and report has been submitted 
to the Bank; 

vii) Banking license was issued by SBP on September 13, 2004 and the Bank has started 
banking operations after the issue of certificate for commencement of banking 
business by SBP on April 16, 2005;

For the year ended December 31, 2014
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viii) Privatization Commission (PC) has constituted a transaction committee which is 
represented by members from the Privatization Commission, State Bank of 
Pakistan, Ministry of Finance and the Bank. Privatization Commission has 
approved M/s BMA Capital as Financial Advisors for the Bank and due diligence 
exercise for the privatization of the Bank has been carried out in the year 2008; and

ix) No further progress has been made on the privatization of the Bank.

6.3 Further restructuring of SME Bank:

In compliance to the decisions taken during meeting at Ministry of Finance dated September 
14, 2009 following actions have been undertaken. 

i) VSS offered to the regular employees of the Bank in November 2009, wherein 138 
employees opted for VSS offered vide Circular  No. HO/HR&SD/2009/5385 dated 
October 15, 2009. These employees have been relieved at a total cost of Rs. 653 
million with effect from November 14, 2009;

ii) Refer Note 11.2, for status of  transfer of Old portfolio of defunct RDFC & defunct 
SBFC to National Bank of Pakistan ; and

iii) Government of Pakistan have allocated an amount of Rs. 0.5 billion in the annual 
budget 2014-15 for equity injection into the Bank.

6.4 Going concern assumption and minimum capital requirement

The Bank continues to operate in net loss situation. During the year, the Bank has incurred a 
net loss after tax of Rs. 387.07 million and its accumulated losses stand at Rs. 1.973 billion as 
of the reporting date. Further the Bank has shortfall of Rs. 1.580 billion on 31 December 2014 
in meeting the minimum capital requirements of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) as prescribed by 
the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP).  These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may 
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, that 
it may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the ordinary course of 
business. However the Bank’s management believes that going concern assumption is 
appropriate basis to prepare these unconsolidated financial statements since the 
Government of Pakistan (GoP), holds 94% shares of the Bank through Ministry of Finance 
(MoF) and has made a budget allocation of Rs. 0.5 billion to provide further equity 
contribution to the Bank, notwithstanding that this allocation has been reduced from 
previously allocated budget of Rs. 2 billion for the year ended 2012-13 and Rs. 1 billion for 
the year 2013-14. Further SBP has allowed exemption to the Bank from meeting the 
minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) till June 30,  2015. With regards 
to reduction in budget allocation of Rs 0.5 billion by GoP, the management has approached 
MoF for increase in equity contribution and based on its discussions believes that MoF will 
increase the equity contribution from Rs. 0.5 billion, which will enable the bank to meet the 
minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses). Further keeping in view the past 
trend and the fact that the Bank is in the privatization list of GoP, the management believes 
that SBP will further extend the exemption incase the Bank is not able to meet the minimum 
capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) till June 30, 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2014
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SMEBL: HO: CS: 2015/

thNOTICE OF 13  ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

To

All Members of the Bank
KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

thNotice is hereby given that 13  Annual General Meeting of SME Bank Limited will be held 

onMonday, March 30, 2015 at 11:00 am at Registered Office, SME Bank Ltd., 56-F, Nazimuddin Road, 

Blue Area, F-6/1, Islamabad to transact the following:

Ordinary Business:

th1.      To confirm the minutes of 12  Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company held on 

March 27, 2014. 

2.      To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Bank for the year ended 

December31, 2014 together with Auditors' Report, Statement of Compliance with Public Sector 

Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules and Review Report thereon.

3.        Review of Contents of Annual Report 2014

4.      To appoint Auditors and to fix their remuneration for the year ending December 31, 2015. 

5.      To fix terms& conditions of service of Mr. Nasser Durrani, Ex-President/CEO of SME Bank.

6.      To fix terms& conditions of service of Mr. Ihsan ul Haq Khan, President/CEO of SME Bank.

7.      To transact any other business with the permission of the Chair.

   By Order of the Board  

Islamabad

Dated:   March 09, 2015 Sajjad Ahmad Warraich

                                                                                                                                    Company Secretary

                                                                                                                                    (Cell# 0300-5599658)

Notes:

1.     A Member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and 

vote for him/her at the meeting. A proxy must be a member of the company. However, an 

association (whether body corporate or not) being a member of the Company may appoint as its 

proxy one of its officers though not a member of the Company. (Form of Proxy is attached)

2.      An instrument of the proxy and the Power of Attorney or other Authority (if any) under which it 

is signed or a notarially certified copy of such Power of Attorney or Authority in order to be 

valid must be duly signed and deposited at registered office of the Company not less than 48 

hours before the time of holding the meeting.
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KPMGKPMG KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

Chartered Accountants
Sixth Floor, State Life Building No. 5
Jinnah Avenue, Blue Area
Islamabad, Pakistan

Telephone  + 92 (51) 282 3558
                   + 92 (51) 282 5956
Fax             + 92 (51) 282 2671
internet       www.kpmg.com.pk

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements comprising consolidated statement 

of financial position of SME Bank Limited and its subsidiary company (“ the Group”) as at December 

31, 2014 and the related consolidated profit and loss account, consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, consolidated cash flow statement and consolidated statement of changes in 

equity together with the notes forming part thereof (here-in-after referred to as the 'financial 

statements') for the year then ended, in which are incorporated the unaudited certified returns from 

the branches except for  11 branches which have been audited by us. We have also expressed 

separate opinions on the financial statements of SME Bank Limited and is subsidiary company 

namely SME Leasing Limited. These financial statements are responsibility of the Holding 

Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

based on audit.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing and 

accordingly included such test of accounting records and such auditing procedures as we 

considered necessary in the circumstances.

a) As explained in note 15.3 the management of the Holding Company is considering to 

approach Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan for extension in time period and 

further as mentioned by the management in the said note, the State Bank of Pakistan has 

allowed the Bank to record a provision of 25% against the carrying amount of TREC upto 

March 2015 and if the matter is not resolved to record 100% provision thereafter. 

Accordingly the Bank has not recorded impairment against the carrying value of TREC of 

Lahore Stock Exchange of Rs. 21.56 million. Had the impairment been recorded, loss after 

tax for the year and the accumulated losses would have increased by Rs. 21.56 million and 

the consolidated capital adequacy ratio of the Bank as at 31 December 2014 would have 

reduce by 0.6%. 

In our opinion, except for the effect on the consolidated financial statements of the matter described 

in paragraph (a) above, the consolidated financial statements presents fairly the financial position of 

SME Bank Limited and its subsidiary company as at December 31, 2014 and the results of their 

operation for the year than ended

Without further qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to:

Note 7.4.1 to the consolidated financial statements with indicates that the Group continues to 

operate in net loss situation and notwithstanding the matter referred to in paragraph (a) above, 

has incurred a net loss after tax of Rs. 386.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 and 

its accumulated losses stand at Rs. 1.939 billion as of the reporting date. Further the Bank on a 

standalone basis has shortfall of Rs. 1.58 billion on 31 December 2014 in meeting the minimum 

capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) as prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan 

(SBP) on the basis of amounts reported in the unconsolidated statement of financial position. 

These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 7.4.1, indicate the existence of 

Auditors’ Report to the Members
For the year ended December 31, 2014
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KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going 

concern. However the Bank's management believes that going concern assumption is 

appropriate basis to prepare these consolidated financial statements since the Government of 

Pakistan (GoP), holds 94% shares of the Bank through Ministry of Finance (MoF) and has made a 

budget allocation of Rs. 500 million to provide further equity contribution to the Bank, 

notwithstanding that this allocation has been reduced from previously allocated budget of Rs. 2 

billion for the year 2012-2013, and Rs. 1 billion for the year 2013-2014. Further SBP has allowed 

exemption to the Bank from meeting the minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of 

losses) till 30 June 2015. With regards to reduction in budget allocation of Rs 500 million by GoP, 

the management is contemplating to approach MoF for increase in equity contribution. Further 

keeping in view the past trend and the fact that the Bank is in the privatization list of GoP, the 

management believes that SBP will further extend the exemption incase the Bank is not able to 

meet the minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) till 30 June 2015.

Note: 7.4.2 to the consolidated financial statements, which elaborates that SME Leasing Limited 

has not complied with the minimum equity requirements of the Non-Banking finance 

Companies and Notified Entities regulations, 2008 issued by Securities and Exchange 

Commission of Pakistan. This condition, along with other matters as set forth in the above 

referred note indicate the existence of material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about 

SME Leasing Limited's ability to continue as going concern. However, the financial statements of 

SME Leasing Limited which have been incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 

are prepared on the going concern basis as the management, considering the mitigating factors 

mentioned in the above referred note including availability of financing from the Holding 

Company, is confident that SME Leasing Limited will be able to continue its business in the 

foreseeable future.

Islamabad

07 March 2015
KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Engagement Partner

Muhammad Rehan Chughtai
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Note

2014 2013

ASSETS

Cash and balances with treasury banks 8 366,873

                   

314,937

                  

Balances with other banks 9 7,318

                       

12,670

                    

Lendings to financial institutions 10 215,000

                   

800,000

                  

Investments 11 1,379,486

                

2,575,458

               

Advances 12 3,402,772

                

3,321,647

               

Operating fixed assets 13 141,955

                   

142,424

                  

Deferred tax assets 14 -

                          

-

                         

Other assets 15 217,204

                   

277,293

                  

5,730,608

                

7,444,429

               

 LIABILITIES

Bills payable 16 58,298
                     

85,775
                    

Borrowings 17 777,433
                   

1,752,941
               

Deposits and other accounts 18 3,342,155                3,711,419               

Liability against assets subject to finance lease 19 3,173                       9,970                      

Deferred tax liabilities -                          -                         
Other liabilities 20 739,925                   761,789                  

 
4,920,984

                
6,321,894

               
NET ASSETS 809,624

                   
1,122,535

               

REPRESENTED BY

Share capital 21 2,392,507

                

2,392,507

               Reserves 22 234,660

                   

234,660

                  
Unappropriated loss 22 (1,939,100)

              

(1,563,447)

             
688,067

                   

1,063,720

               
Non-controlling interest 57,070

                     

59,718

                    

745,137

                   

1,123,438

               

Surplus/deficit on revaluation of securities 23 64,487

                     

(903)

                       

809,624

                   

1,122,535

               
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 24

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(Rupees in '000)

Annual Report 2014



96

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement

Annual Report 2014



8397

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement

Annual Report 2014



98

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement

Annual Report 2014



8399

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Statement

Annual Report 2014



100

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 SME Bank Limited (the Bank) is a public limited company incorporated in Pakistan on October 30, 

2001 under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 having its registered office at  56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road, 

F-6/1, Blue Area Islamabad. The Bank obtained its business commencement certificate on April 16, 

2005 which became effective from the date of its issue. The Bank is a Scheduled Commercial Bank 

engaged in the business of banking with the primary objective to support and develop Small and 

Medium Enterprise (SME) sector in Pakistan by providing necessary financial assistance and business 

support services on sustainable basis. The Bank is operating through a network of  13 Commercial 

banking branches. Based on the latest credit rating report dated February 27, 2014 issued by PACRA 

Credit Rating Company Limited, credit rating of the Bank was "BBB-" (Triple B minus) in the long term 

and "A3" (A three) in the short term.

In terms of the provisions of the State Bank of Pakistan BSD circular No. 7 of 2009, the Bank was 

required to increase its paid up capital  (net of losses) as at December 31, 2014 up to Rs. 10 billion. The 

State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) has granted exemption from meeting the enhanced Minimum Capital 

Requirement and the Bank is allowed to operate with minimum paid up capital (net of losses) of Rs. 2 

billion till privatization of the Bank. Further State Bank of Pakistan also has granted extension to the 

Bank till 30 June 2015, from meeting the reduced requirement of maintaining minimum paid up capital 

(net of losses) of Rs. 2 billion 

SME Leasing Limited- Subsidiary Company / SMEL

SME Leasing Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on 12 July 2002 as an unlisted 

public company and acquired the status of a listed company on 13 December 2006. The Company is 

subsidiary of SME Bank Limited (holding company), which holds 73.14% (31 December 2013: 73.14%) 

of the Company's shares. At the time of incorporation, the Company was a wholly owned subsidiary of 

SME Bank Limited, whereby under an arrangement the assets and liabilities of the leasing division of 

SME Bank Limited were transferred to the Company on 28 January 2003. The Company is listed on 

Lahore Stock Exchange and its registered office is situated at 40 Jang Building,A.K. Fazal-ul-Haq Road, 

Blue Area, Islamabad. The core objective of the Company is to extend lease and working capital 

financing facilities to small and medium enterprises of the country.

During the year 2006, SMEL made an Initial Public Offer of 10 million ordinary shares of Rs 10 each at 

an offer price of Rs. 11 per share inclusive of a premium of Rs. 1 per share thereby increasing the issued, 

subscribed and paid-up capital to Rs 320 million represented by 32 million ordinary shares of Rs. 10 

each. Consequently, the holding of the Bank in SMEL has reduced to 73.14%.

1.2 Amalgamation of defunct RDFC and SBFC

The Federal Government promulgated the Regional Development Finance Corporation (RDFC) and 

Small Business Finance Corporation (SBFC) Amalgamation and Conversion Ordinance, 2001 (the 

Ordinance 2001) setting forth the mechanism of amalgamation of defunct RDFC and SBFC. Both these 

entities were Development Financial Institutions (DFIs). In pursuance of the Ordinance 2001, Finance 

Division, Ministry of Finance issued an Order (SRO (1) 2001) dated December 29, 2001 setting forth the 

scheme of amalgamation of RDFC and SBFC with the Bank effective January 1, 2002. Pursuant to this 

scheme entire assets and liabilities of defunct RDFC and SBFC as at December 31, 2001 were 

transferred to the Bank at fair value. These two institutions stand dissolved and ceased to exist 

effective January 1, 2002. The Bank allotted its shares to the share holders of defunct RDFC and SBFC in 

proportion to their shareholding therein based on the fair value of net assets of defunct RDFC and 

SBFC on December  31, 2001. 
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2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Bank and SMEL 

(collectively referred to as " the Group")

The assets and liabilities of the SMEL have been consolidated on a line by line basis and the carrying 

value of investment held by the Bank is eliminated against the SMEL's equity held by the Bank in the 

consolidated financial statements.

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of the SMEL 

attributable to the interest which are not owned by the Bank. Non controlling interests are presented as 

separate item in these consolidated financial statements.

Material intra-group balances and transactions have been eliminated.

3 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

3.1 These consolidated financial statements have been presented in accordance with the requirements of 

format prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan's BSD Circular No. 4 dated February 17, 2006.

3.2 Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the Bank operates. The consolidated financial statements are 

presented in Pak. Rupee, which is the Bank's functional currency. Figures have been rounded off to the 

nearest thousand of rupees unless otherwise stated. 

4 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

4.1 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved 

accounting  standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 

1984  and the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962. Approved accounting standards comprise of such 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standard 

Board (IASB), provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 and the 

Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan. In case 

requirements differ, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Ordinance, 1984, the 

Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan shall 

prevail.

International Accounting Standard 39, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement", 

International Accounting Standard 40, "Investment Property" and International Financial Reporting 

Standard 7,"Financial Instruments: Disclosure" are not applicable to banking companies in Pakistan. 

Accordingly, the requirements of these Standards have not been considered in the preparation of these 

consolidated financial statements. However, investments have been classified and valued in 

accordance with the requirements prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan through various circulars.

4.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to approved accounting standards that are 
not yet effective

- The following standards, amendments and interpretations of approved accounting standards will be 

effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2015:

- Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” Employee contributions – a practical approach (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014). The practical expedient addresses an issue that 

arose when amendments were made in 2011 to the previous pension accounting requirements. The 

amendments introduce a relief that will reduce the complexity and burden of accounting for certain 

contributions from employees or third parties. The amendments are relevant only to defined benefit 

plans that involve contributions from employees or third parties meeting certain criteria. The 

amendment has no impact on the Group's financial statements.
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- Amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets and IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) introduce severe restrictions on the use of 

revenue-based amortization for intangible assets and explicitly state that revenue-based methods of 

depreciation cannot be used for property, plant and equipment. The rebuttable presumption that the 

use of revenue-based amortisation methods for intangible assets is inappropriate can be overcome 

only when revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are ‘highly 

correlated’, or when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue. The amendments are 

not likely to have an impact on Group’s financial statements. 

- IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ – (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2015) replaces the part of IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. IFRS 10 

introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be consolidated. The single model 

to be applied in the control analysis requires that an investor controls an investee when the investor is 

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 

affect those returns through its power over the investee. IFRS 10 has made consequential changes to 

IAS 27 which is now called ‘Separate Financial Statements’ and will deal with only separate financial 

statements. Certain further amendments have been made to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 clarifying the 

requirements relating to accounting for investment entities and would be effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The amendments have no effect on the financial statements of the 

Group except for certain disclosures.

- IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015) 

replaces IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’. Firstly, it carves out, from IAS 31 jointly controlled entities, 

those cases in which although there is a separate vehicle, that separation is ineffective in certain ways. 

These arrangements are treated similarly to jointly controlled assets/operations under IAS 31 and are 

now called joint operations. Secondly, the remainder of IAS 31 jointly controlled entities, now called 

joint ventures, are stripped of the free choice of using the equity method or proportionate 

consolidation; they must now always use the equity method. IFRS 11 has also made consequential 

changes in IAS 28 which has now been named ‘Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures’. The 

amendments requiring business combination accounting to be applied to acquisitions of interests in a 

joint operation that constitutes a business are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2016. The adoption of this standard is not like to have an impact on Group’s financial 

statements.

- IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2015) combines the disclosure requirements for entities that have interests in subsidiaries, 

joint arrangements (i.e. joint operations or joint ventures), associates and/or unconsolidated 

structured entities, into one place. The adoption of this standard is not like to have an impact on 

Group’s financial statements. 

- IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015) 

defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure 

requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value when it is 

required by other IFRSs. It does not introduce new fair value measurements, nor does it eliminate the 

practicability exceptions to fair value measurements that currently exist in certain standards. The 

Group is currently in the process of assessing the impact of this standards on its financial statements.

- Amendment to IAS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statement’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2016). The amendments to IAS 27 will allow entities to use the equity method to account 

for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements.

- Agriculture: Bearer Plants [Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 41] (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2016). Bearer plants are now in the scope of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

for measurement and disclosure purposes. Therefore, a company can elect to measure bearer plants at 
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cost. However, the produce growing on bearer plants will continue to be measured at fair value less 

costs to sell under IAS 41 Agriculture. A bearer plant is a plant that: is used in the supply of agricultural 

produce; is expected to bear produce for more than one period; and has a remote likelihood of being 

sold as agricultural produce. Before maturity, bearer plants are accounted for in the same way as self-

constructed items of property, plant and equipment during construction. The amendment has no 

impact on the financial statements of the Group.

- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to 

IFRS 10 and IAS 28) [effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016]. The main 

consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a 

business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a 

transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a 

subsidiary. The amendment has no impact on the financial statements of the Group.

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles (most amendments will apply prospectively 

for annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014). The new cycle of improvements contain 

amendments to the following standards:

- IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. IFRS 2 has been amended to clarify the definition of ‘vesting condition’ 

by separately defining ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’. The amendment has no impact 

on the financial statements of the Group.

- IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’. These amendments clarify the classification and measurement of 

contingent consideration in a business combination. The amendment has no impact on the financial 

statements of the Group.

- IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ has been amended to explicitly require the disclosure of judgments made 

by management in applying the aggregation criteria. The amendment has no impact on the financial 

statements of the Group except for certain additional disclosures.

- Amendments to IAS 16’Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. The 

amendments clarify the requirements of the revaluation model in IAS 16 and IAS 38, recognizing that 

the restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortization) is not always proportionate to the change 

in the gross carrying amount of the asset. The amendment has no impact on the financial statement of 

the Group.

- IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosure’. The definition of related party is extended to include a management 

entity that provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity, either directly or 

through a group entity. This amendment has no impact on the financial statements of the Group except 

for certain additional disclosures. 

- IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’. IAS 40 has been amended to clarify that an entity should: assess whether 

an acquired property is an investment property under IAS 40 and perform a separate assessment 

under IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of the investment property constitutes a business 

combination. The amendment has no impact on the financial statement of the Group.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 cycles (amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2016). The new cycle of improvements contain amendments to the following standards: 

- IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. IFRS 5 is amended to clarify 

that if an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset (or disposal group) i.e. reclassifies an asset 

from held for distribution to owners to held for sale or vice versa without any time lag, then such 

change in classification is considered as continuation of the original plan of disposal and if an entity 

determines that an asset (or disposal group) no longer meets the criteria to be classified as held for 

distribution, then it ceases held for distribution accounting in the same way as it would cease held for 

sale accounting. The amendment has no impact on the financial statement of the Group.
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- IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments- Disclosures’. IFRS 7 is amended to clarify when servicing arrangements 

are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing involvement in transferred financial 

assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety. IFRS 7 is also amended to clarify that 

additional disclosures required by ‘Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

(Amendments to IFRS7)’ are not specifically required for inclusion in condensed interim financial 

statements for all interim periods. The amendment has no impact on the financial statement of the 

Group.

- IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. IAS 19 is amended to clarify that high quality corporate bonds or 

government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in the same currency in 

which the benefits are to be paid. The amendments have no effect on financial statements of the Group.

- IAS 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’. IAS 34 is amended to clarify that certain disclosures, if they are 

not included in the notes to interim financial statements and disclosed elsewhere should be cross 

referred. The amendment has no impact on the financial statement of the Group.

5 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

5.1 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as 

modified for certain investments which are carried at fair value, and defined benefit pension and 

gratuity plan, defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme, unfunded compensated absences and 

benevolent fund which are carried at present value of defined benefit obligations net of fair value of 

plan assets, wherever applicable.

5.2 Use of critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with approved accounting 

standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The 

Group uses estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimate will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and judgments are continually 

evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas involving a higher degree 

of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 

statements are as follow:

6 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

6.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and balances with treasury banks, balances with other 

banks and call money lendings.

6.2 Investments

Investments other than those categorised as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair value 

which includes transactions costs associated with the investments. Investments classified as held-for-

trading are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the profit and loss 

account.
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 )     classification of investments (note 6.2)

ii)     provision/ impairment against investments (note 6.2), advances (note 6.4) and other assets (note 6.6)

iii)    valuation and impairment of available for sale securities (note 6.2 and 6.6)

iv)    useful life and residual value of property and equipments, intangible assets (note 6.5)

v)     taxation (note 6.8)

vi)    staff retirement benefits (note 6.9)



All regular way purchases / sales of investment are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date the 

Group commits to purchase / sell the investments. Regular way purchases or sales of investment 

require delivery of securities within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention 

in the market place.

The Group has classified its investment portfolio into ‘held-for-trading’, ‘held-to-maturity’ and 

‘available-for-sale’ as follows:

Held for trading 

These are securities which are acquired with the intention to trade by taking advantage of short-term 

market / interest rate movements and are to be sold within 90 days. These are carried at market value, 

with the related unrealized gain / (loss) on revaluation being taken to profit and loss account.

Held to maturity 

These represent investments acquired by the Group with the intention and ability to hold them upto 

maturity. These are carried at amortized cost less impairment if any. Impairment in debt securities is 

determined in accordance with the requirements of Prudential Regulations issued by SBP.

Available for sale 

These are investments that do not fall under the held-for-trading or held-to-maturity categories. These 

are carried at market value except in case of unquoted securities where market value is not available, 

which are carried at cost less provision for diminution in value, if any. Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation 

is taken to ‘surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of securities’ account shown below equity. Provision for 

diminution in value of investments in respect of unquoted shares is calculated with reference to book 

value of the same. On derecognition or impairment in quoted available-for-sale investments, the 

cumulative gain or loss previously reported as 'surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of assets' below equity 

is included in the profit and loss account for the period.

Provision for diminution in values of securities (other than term finance certificates) is made after 

considering impairment if any in their values, where the decline in prices of available for sale equity 

securities is significant or prolonged, it is considered impaired and included in consolidated profit and 

loss account. Provision for diminution in the value of term finance certificates is made as per 

Prudential Regulations issued by State Bank of Pakistan.  

Held-for-trading and quoted available-for-sale securities are marked to market with reference to 

ready quotes on Reuters page (PKRV) or MUFAP or the Stock Exchanges, as the case may be.

6.3 Agreements for sale and purchase of securities (repo and reverse repo)

Securities sold under repurchase agreement (repo) are retained in the consolidated financial 

statements as investments and a liability for consideration received is included in borrowings. The 

difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as mark-up expense and recognized over the 

period of contract.

Securities purchased under agreement to resell (reverse repo) are included in lendings to financial 

institutions. The difference between  purchase and resale price is treated as mark-up income and  

recognized over the period of  the contract. 

6.4 Advances 

Advances are stated net off specific and general provisions. Provisions are made in accordance with 

the requirements of applicable regulations and charged to the consolidated profit and loss account. 

These regulations prescribe an age based criteria (as supplemented by subjective evaluation of 

advances by the Group) for classification of non-performing loans and advances and computing 

provision / allowance there against. Such regulations also require the Group to maintain general 
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provision / allowance against its Small Entity (SE) advances portfolio at specified percentage of such 

portfolio. 

Advances and investments in finance lease are written off when there is no realistic prospect of 

recovery.

Net investment in finance lease

Leases where the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of 

an asset to the lessees are classified as finance leases. Net investment in finance lease is recognised at an 

amount equal to the aggregate of minimum lease payment including guaranteed residual value and 

excluding unearned finance income, if any.

Provision for potential lease losses and provision against non performing loans

Provisions for potential lease losses and non performing loans are determined on the basis of 

regulatory requirement and are charged to consolidated profit and loss account.

6.5 Capital work-in-progress, operating fixed assets, depreciation and amortization

Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. These are transferred to specific 

assets as and when assets are available for use.

Operating fixed assets-owned

These are stated at cost less impairment losses and accumulated depreciation except for leasehold 

land. Land is stated at cost less impairment, if any.

Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to consolidated profit and loss account as and when 

incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged on straight line method at the rates given in note 13.2, commencing from the 

month in which the asset is available for use. No depreciation is charged in the month of disposal of the 

asset. The residual value, useful life and depreciation method is reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, 

at each balance sheet date.

Gains or losses on disposal of property and equipment are taken to the consolidated profit and loss 

account.

Assets subject to finance lease

Assets subject to finance lease are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation at the rates similar to the 

bank's owned assets and impairment loss (if any). The outstanding obligation under finance lease less 

financial charges allocated to future periods is shown as liability. Finance charges are calculated at 

interest rates implicit in the lease and are charged to consolidated profit and loss account in the period 

in which these are incurred.
 

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognized only if it is identifiable, the Group has control over the asset, it is 

probable that economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the asset can be measured 

reliably.

All amortizable intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are initially measured at cost and 

are amortized on a straight line basis at the rate given in note 13.3 commencing from the month when 

these assets are available for use. Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and 

impairment losses, if any. The residual value, useful life and amortization method is reviewed and 
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adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

In making estimates of the depreciation / amortization, the management uses useful life and residual 

value which reflects the pattern in which economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the 

Group. The useful life and the residual value are reviewed at each financial year end and any change in 

these estimates in future years might effect the carrying amounts of the respective item of operating 

fixed assets with the corresponding effect on depreciation / amortization charge.

6.6 Impairment

The carrying amount of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment, whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be 

recoverable.  If such indication exists,  and where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable 

amount,  assets are written down to their recoverable amount. The resulting impairment loss is taken 

to the consolidated profit and loss account. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 

assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined net of 

depreciation/amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

The available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 

decline in the value below its cost. Impairment loss is recognized in consolidated profit & loss account.

6.7 Deposits

Deposits are recorded at the nominal values of proceeds received. Markup accrued on deposits is 

recognised separately as part of other liabilities and is charged to consolidated profit and loss account 

on a time proportion basis.

6.8 Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 

recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account, except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised directly in other comprehensive income or below equity, in which case it is recognised in 

other comprehensive income or below equity.

Current

Provision for current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year using tax rates 

applicable at the date of consolidated statement of financial position and any adjustment to tax 

payable for previous years.

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all major temporary 

differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 

corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit at the rates that are expected to 

apply to the period when the differences reverse based on the tax rates that have been enacted. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilized. 

Deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefits will be 

realized.

The Group takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation 

authorities. Instances where the Bank’s views differ from the views taken by the income tax 

department at the assessment stage and where the Bank considers that its view on items of material 

nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities.
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6.9 Staff retirement and other benefits

The Group operates following staff retirement and other benefit schemes for its employees:

Defined benefit plan- Pension and gratuity scheme

Fully funded defined benefit pension and gratuity scheme for permanent employees. Contributions 

are made in accordance with the actuarial valuation which is carried out periodically using 'Projected 

Unit Credit Method'. All actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately through other 

comprehensive income. 

Defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme

The Group operates a defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme for its contractual employees. The 

obligation under the defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme is recognized on the basis of actuarial 

valuation using the 'Projected Unit Credit Method'. 

Benevolent fund

The Group also operates a contributory benevolent fund for all its eligible employees (defined benefit 

scheme). Contributions to this fund were made equally by the Bank and employees till March 2002. 

Thereafter it is wholly contributed by the Bank at the rate of 2% of basic salary with a ceiling of Rs. 200 

per month per employee. Annual contribution towards the defined benefit scheme are made on the 

basis of actuarial advice using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

Compensated absences

The Group provides compensated absences, an unfunded scheme, as per entitlement to all its 

permanent and contractual employees. For its eligible employees, related provision is made in 

accordance with actuarial valuation. Provision for the year is charged to consolidated profit and loss 

account. The amount recognized in consolidated statement of financial position represents present 

value of defined benefit obligation. 

Defined benefit plans are provided to employees of the Group. Calculations in this respect require 

assumptions to be made of future outcomes, the principal ones being in respect of increase in 

remuneration, the expected long-term return on plan assets and the discount rate used to convert 

future cash flows to current values. Calculations are sensitive to changes in the underlying 

assumptions.

6.10 Revenue recognition

6.10.1 Advances

Advances :

Markup/ interest on performing advances is recognized on a time proportion basis over the term of 

loan and advances. Markup/ interest/ penal markup recoverable on non performing advances is 

recognized on receipt basis. Mark-up / interest on rescheduled / restructured advances and 

investments is recognised as permitted by the regulatory requirements.

Investment in finance lease

"The Group follows the finance lease method in accounting for the recognition of lease income. Under 

this method, the unearned lease income i.e. the excess of gross lease rentals and the estimated residual 

value over the cost of the leased assets is deferred and taken to income over the term of the lease 

contract, so as to produce a systematic return on the net investment in finance lease. Unrealised lease 

income is held in suspense account, where necessary, in accordance with the regulatory requirements. 

Front-end fees and documentation charges are taken to income when realised.”
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Advances disbursed by defunct RDFC and defunct SBFC :

Advances and related markup are suspended. Markup/ interest on advances is recognized on receipt 

basis.

6.10.2 Return on investments

Return on investments is recognized on a time proportion basis except on classified investment which 

is recognized on receipt basis. Any premium paid or discount received on purchase of securities is 

amortized through consolidated profit and loss account over the remaining period of maturity on time 

apportionment basis.

6.10.3 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the Group's right to receive the dividend is established.
 
6.10.4 Interest, fee, brokerage and commission

Interest, fee, brokerage and commission, profit on other investments, bank deposits and staff loans is 

recognized on accrual basis. Income on non-funded facilities (fee, commission, documentation 

charges etc.) is recognized on receipt basis except commission on bank guarantees which is recognized 

on accrual basis. 

6.11 Off setting

Financial assets and liabilities are off set and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 

of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and 

there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.

6.12 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 

qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset are capitalized. Other borrowing costs are recognized as 

an expense in the period in which it incurs.
 
6.13 Provisions

Provisions are recorded when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 

to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of obligation. Provision for 

guarantee claims and other off balance sheet obligations is recognized when intimated and reasonable 

certainty exists to settle the obligations. Expected recoveries are recognized by debiting customer 

accounts. Charge to consolidated profit and loss account is stated net off expected recoveries.
 
6.14 Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Group becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset is derecognised where (a) the rights to 

receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or (b) the group has transferred its rights to receive cash 

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without 

material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (i) the Group has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (ii) the Group has neither transferred 

nor retained substantially all the risk and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 

or expires. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the financial assets and financial liabilities is taken to 

income currently.
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6.15 Segment reporting

A segment is the distinguishable component of the Group that is subject to risks and rewards that are 

different from those of other segments. A business segment is one that is engaged either in providing 

certain products or services, whereas a geographical segment is one engaged in providing products 

and services within a particular economic environment. Segment information is presented as per the 

Group's functional structure and the guidance of the State Bank of Pakistan. The Group's primary 

format of reporting is based on business segments:

6.15.1 Business segments

Trading and sales

This segment undertakes the Group's treasury, money market and capital market activities.

Commercial banking

It includes loans, deposits and other transactions with individuals/ staff, small and medium 

enterprises and corporate customers.

6.15.2 Geographical segments

The Group operates only in Pakistan.

6.16 Appropriation to reserves

Dividend and appropriation to reserves (except appropriation required by law) after the balance sheet 

date are recognized as liability in the Group's financial statement in the year in which these are 

approved.

7 FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

7.1 The Government of Pakistan (GoP) assisted by Asian Development Bank (ADB) is working on SME 

Sector Development Programme (SME SDP). Loan agreement for this programme between GoP and 

ADB and project agreement between ADB, SBP, Small and Medium Enterprise Development 

Authority (SMEDA) and the Bank have been signed on February 10, 2004. This programme, apart from 

other aspects on policy matrix relating to SME sector of Pakistan, also envisaged restructuring of SME 

Bank Limited.  Salient features of the restructuring of the Bank are given below:

i) Adjustment of accumulated balances due from SBP on account of its share in profits and 

losses of the Bank against credit lines provided by SBP;

ii) Payment of Rs 3 billion to SBP before January 1, 2004 against outstanding credit lines and 

conversion of balance of remaining credit lines into a loan repayable in full by June 30, 2006; 

iii) Raising the paid-up capital to Rs 1,100 million by issuing additional shares to GoP;

iv) The Ministry of Finance (MoF) shall ensure that SBP's shareholding in the Bank is terminated 

through the purchase of SBP held shares at nominal value by shareholders or otherwise;

v) 100% provision to be made against non performing financial assistance extended by the 

defunct RDFC and SBFC prior to January 1, 2002 which provision to be adjusted against SBP 

credit lines. SBP will recover this amount from proceeds of ADB loan to GoP; 

vi) Reduction in the number of recovery branches, staff rationalization through Voluntary 

Separation Scheme (VSS), human resource audit and hiring of new professional staff on 

merit;

vii) Reimbursement by GoP of costs related to VSS launched for all regular employees;
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viii) SBP to issue a banking license to the Bank on compliance with all conditions of restructuring 

and applicable SBP regulations. The commercial banking operations will be separate from 

the recovery operations of the defunct RDFC and SBFC portfolio and the two operations will 

be run as independent units within the Bank; and 

ix) Privatization of the Bank by June 2006.

7.2 Current status of the above referred financial restructuring is given below:

i) Accumulated balances of Rs 3,275.752 million due from SBP on account of its share in profits 

and losses of the Bank have been adjusted against credit lines provided by SBP; 

ii) Rs. 7,393 million has been paid to SBP since 2003, to fully adjust the loan liability.

iii) Paid-up capital has been increased to Rs. 2,393 million by issue of 73,502,453 additional 

shares of Rs 10 each to GoP without right issue in 2004, issue of 40,000,000 additional shares of 

Rs 10 each to GoP without right issue in 2005, issue of 50,000,000 additional bonus shares of 

Rs 10 each to GoP without right issue in 2006 and issue of 39,250,700 additional shares of Rs. 

10 each to GoP without right issue in 2007. Proceeds against issue of additional shares in 2004 

were paid by GoP to SBP against the Bank's loan balance due to SBP;

iv) Provision of Rs 1,283.196 million against non performing financial assistance extended by the 

defunct RDFC and SBFC was adjusted against credit lines of SBP in 2003;

v) VSS was approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on November 7, 2003.  707 

employees were relieved under the scheme upto December 31, 2005 and the aggregate 

reported cost for 707 employees was Rs. 1,764.268 million, which has been received by the 

bank by March 31, 2007;

vi) Human resource technical audit has been completed and report has been submitted to the 

Bank;

vii) Banking license was issued by SBP on September 13, 2004 and the Bank has started banking 

operations after the issue of certificate for commencement of banking business by SBP on 

April 16, 2005;

viii) Privatization Commission (PC) has constituted a transaction committee which is represented 

by members from the Privatization Commission, State Bank of Pakistan, Ministry of Finance 

and the Bank. Privatization Commission has approved M/s BMA Capital as Financial 

Advisors for the Bank and due diligence exercise for the privatization of the Bank has been 

carried out in the year 2008; and

ix) No further progress has been made on the privatization of the Bank.

7.3 Further restructuring of SME Bank:

In compliance to the decisions taken during meeting at Ministry of Finance dated September 

14, 2009 following actions have been undertaken. 

i) VSS offered to the regular employees of the Bank in November 2009, wherein 138 employees 

opted for VSS offered vide Circular  No. HO/HR&SD/2009/5385 dated October 15, 2009. 

These employees have been relieved at a total cost of Rs. 653 million with effect from 

November 14, 2009;

ii) Refer Note 11.2, for status of  transfer of Old portfolio of defunct RDFC & defunct SBFC to 

National Bank of Pakistan ; and

iii) Government of Pakistan have allocated an amount of Rs. 1 billion in the annual budget    

2013-14 for equity injection into the Bank.
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7.4 Going concern assumption and minimum capital requirement

7.4.1 The Bank

The Group continues to operate in net loss situation. During the year, the Bank has incurred a net loss 

after tax of Rs. 386.4 million and its accumulated losses stand at Rs. 1.939 billion as of the reporting 

date. Further the Bank on standalone basis has shortfall of Rs. 1.58 billion on 31 December 2014 in 

meeting the minimum capital requirements of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) as prescribed by the State 

Bank of Pakistan (SBP).  These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast significant 

doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, that it may be unable to realize 

its assets and discharge its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. However the Bank’s 

management believes that going concern assumption is appropriate basis to prepare these 

consolidated financial statements since the Government of Pakistan (GoP), holds 94% shares of the 

Bank through Ministry of Finance (MoF) and has made a budget allocation of Rs. 0.5 billion to provide 

further equity contribution to the Bank, notwithstanding that this allocation has been reduced from 

previously allocated budget of Rs. 2 billion for the year ended 2012-13 and Rs. 1 billion for the year 

2013-14. Further SBP has allowed exemption to the Bank from meeting the minimum capital 

requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) till June 30,  2015. With regard to reduction in budget 

allocation of Rs 0.5 billion by GoP, the management has approached MoF for increase in equity 

contribution and based on its discussions believes that MoF will increase the equity contribution from 

Rs. 0.5 billion, which will enable the bank to meet the minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net 

of losses). Further keeping in view the past trend and the fact that the Bank is in the privatization list of 

GoP, the management believes that SBP will further extend the exemption incase the Bank is not able to 

meet the minimum capital requirement of Rs. 2 billion (net of losses) till June 30, 2015.

SME Leasing Limited - Subsidiary Company (SMEL)

7.4.2 Regulation 4 of Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (NBFC 

Regulations 2008) requires a leasing company to maintain, at all times, minimum equity of Rs. 350 

million by 30 June 2011, Rs. 500 million by 30 June 2012 and Rs. 700 million by 30 June 2013. The equity 

of the SMEL as at 31 December 2014 on a standalone basis is Rs. 188.445 million which is Rs. 511.60 

million short of the minimum capital requirement. SMEL has been incurring losses since year ended 31 

December 2009 which has resulted in erosion of equity. During the year ended 31 December 2013, 

SMEL has incurred a loss of Rs. 11.046 million and the accumulated losses amounts to Rs. 180.021 

million as at the year end. Further, the net assets of the Company amounting to Rs. 190.474 million 

includes non-performing loans, net of provision, amounting to Rs. 129.88 million.

The license to conduct leasing business granted to SMEL by the Securities and Exchange Commission 

of Pakistan (SECP) dated 30 June 2010, which expired on 20 May 2013, specifically mentions that the 

license is subject to consistent compliance with all the requirements of NBFC Regulations 2008. 

The SMEL has applied for renewal of the license on 22 April 2013 and submitted a detailed business 

plan including measures to be taken for improvement of financial health of the SMEL and due 

compliance with minimum equity requirement as per NBFC Regulations 2008. Considering the 

financial health of the SMEL and expiry of leasing license, the SECP in letter dated 05 July 2013 

instructed the SMEL to not to raise deposits from general public in any form till the compliance of the 

minimum equity requirement and the renewal of the leasing license. 

Further SMEL is dependent on the running finance facility granted by the Bank. The revised 

prudential regulations of State Bank of Pakistan applicable from June 2015 has restricted the exposure 

by bank to related party to the extent of 7.5% of its equity. However, the Bank (parent company) 

intends to apply to the State Bank of Pakistan for the relaxation of the aforesaid requirements in respect 

of its financing to the SMEL.
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The above factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on 

SMEL's  ability to continue as a going concern and SMEL may not be able to realise its assets and 

discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. However, the stand alone financial statements 

of SMEL which have been incorporated in these consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on going concern basis considering the factors mentioned below:

- Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan on the recommendation of NBF Sector Reform 

Committee is currently reviewing the overall regulatory regime of NBFI sector which includes 

considering various options relating to minimum equity requirements;

- The Bank (parent company) has granted a short term running finance facility to SMEL amounting to 

Rs. 180 million out of which Rs. 155.320 million has been utilised as at 31 December 2014. The said 

facility can be extended to the extent of Rs. 300 million as per the stand-by agreement for finance 

facility, As discussed earlier the Bank (parent company) will apply to the State Bank of Pakistan for the 

relaxation of the aforesaid requirements in respect of its financing to the Company.;

- The management of SMEL has prepared cash flow projections which reflect that SMEL based on 

financial support by the Bank (parent company) will be able to continue its business on going concern 

basis in the foreseeable future;

- Concerted efforts are being made for the recovery of non-performing leases and loans and finances 

and in this respect during the year Rs. 23.012 million has been recovered. Further, subsequent to the 

year ended 31 December 2014, Rs. 1.028 million has been recovered in respect of the non-performing 

Loans till the end of January 2015;

- The SMEL recommenced leasing business from September 2013 after a considerable gap, with 

attractive mark up rates and reasonable deposit margins. During the year leases amounting to 

Rs.256.540 million (2013: 81.730 million) have been disbursed;
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SME LEASING LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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We have reviewed enclosed Statement of compliance with the best practice contained in the Code of 

Corporate Governance and Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules 2013,(both 

herein referred to as 'Codes' ) prepared by the Board of Directors of SME Leasing Limited for the year 

ended 31 December 2014 to comply with the requirement of Listing Regulation of the Lahore Stock 

Exchange where the Company is listed and the provisions of Public Sector Companies (Corporate 

Governance) Rules, 2013.

The responsibility for compliance with the Codes is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. 

Our responsibility is to review, to the extent where such compliance can be objectively verified, 

whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company's compliance with the 

provisions of the Codes and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the 

requirements of the Codes. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the company's personal and 

review of various documents prepared by the company to comply with the Codes.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the 

accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit 

approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of Directors statement on internal 

controls covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal 

controls, the Company's corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Codes require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of 

the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval its related 

party transactions distinguishing between transactions carried out on term equivalent to those that 

prevail in arm's length transactions and transactions which are not executed at arm's length price 

and recording proper justifications for using such alternate pricing mechanism. We are only 

required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the related 

party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee. We 

have not carried out any procedures to determine whether the related party transactions were 

undertaken at arm's length price or not.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement 

of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company's compliance, in all material aspects, 

with the Codes as applicable to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Further, we highlight below instances of non-compliance with the requirements of the Codes as 

reflected in the point / paragraph references where these are stated in the Statement of Compliance:

KPMGKPMG KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Sheikh Sultan Trust Building No. 2

Beaumont Road

Karachi, 75530 Pakistan

Telephone  + 92 (21) 3568 5847

Fax             + 92 (21) 3568 5095

internet       www.kpmg.com.pk

REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
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AND PUBLIC SECTOR COMPANIES (CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) RULES, 2013
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KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., a Partnership firm registered in Pakistan
and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(”KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., a Partnership firm registered in Pakistan
and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(”KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.
KPMGKPMG

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

Point / paragraph

S. No. Reference Description 

I S.No.2 As stated in the explanation, the board does not have the requisite 

percentage of independent directors.

ii S.No.7 As stated in explanation, chairman of the board is not elected from amongst 

the independent directors.

iii S.No. 18(a) As stated in the explanation, criteria for the performance evaluation of the 

members of the board of directors have not yet been established. 

iv S.No.21 As stated in the explanation, orientation course for BOD members has not 

been arranged by the company.

v S.No.29 As stated in the explanation, the audit committee do not comprise of 

majority of independent directors. 

vi S.No.30 As stated in the explanation, head of internal audit is also acting as head of 

compliance.

vii paragraph 3 training program was not arranged during the year for the members of 

BOD(refer to additional requirements of Code of Corporate Governance, 

2012)

Dated: 04 March 2015 KPMG Taseer Hadi & co.

Karachi Chartered accountants 

Mazhar Saleem 
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We have audited the annexed balance sheet of SME Leasing Limited (“the Company”) as at 31 

December 2014 and the related profit and loss account, statement of comprehensive income, cash 

flow statement and statement of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof, for 

the year then ended and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, 

to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

It is the responsibility of the Company's management to establish and maintain a system of internal 

control, and prepare and present the financial statements in conformity with the approved 

accounting standards and the requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 1984. Our responsibility is 

to express an opinion on these statement based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as applicable in Pakistan. These 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the financial statements are free of any material misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test 

basis, evidence supporting the amount and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 

includes assessing the accounting policies and significant estimates made by the management, as 

well as, evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statement. We believe that our audit 

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion and, after due verification, we report that:

a) In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the company as required by the 

Companies Ordinance, 1984;

b) In our opinion:

i the balance sheet and profit and loss account together with the notes thereon have 

been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Ordinance, 1984, and are in 

agreement with the books of account and are further in accordance with accounting 

policies consistently applied;

ii the expenditure incurred during the year was for the purpose of the Company's 

business; and

iii the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure incurred during 

the year were in accordance with the objects of the Company;

c) In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 

us, the balance sheet, profit and loss account, statement of comprehensive income, cash flow 

statement and statement of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof 

conform with approved accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the 

information required by the Companies Ordinance, 1984, in the manner so required and 

respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 

2014 and of the loss, its cash flow and changes in equity for the year then ended; and

Auditor's report to the members 

KPMGKPMG KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
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Beaumont Road

Karachi, 75530 Pakistan
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KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., a Partnership firm registered in Pakistan
and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(”KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., a Partnership firm registered in Pakistan
and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(”KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co.

d) In our opinion, no Zakat was deduction at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 

1980(XVIII of 1980).

We draw attention to note 1.2 to the financial statements, which explains that the Company has not 

complied with the minimum equity requirements of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and 

Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan. 

This condition, along with other matters as set forth in the above referred note; indicate the existence 

of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a 

going concern. However, the financial statements have been prepared on the basis of going concern 

as the management, considering the mitigating factors mentioned in the above referred note 

including availability of financing from the parent company, is confident that the company will be 

able to continue its business in the foreseeable future. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this 

matter.

Dated: 04 March 2015 KPMG Taseer Hadi & co.

Karachi Chartered accountants 

Mazhar Saleem  
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Balance Sheet 
As at December 31, 2014
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Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended December 31, 2014
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Chief Executive Officer 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2014
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Statement of Cash Flow
For the year ended December 31, 2014
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended December 31, 2014

SME Leasing Limited
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December 31, 2014
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

1. STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

1.1 SME Leasing Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on 12 July 2002 as an 

unlisted public company and acquired the status of a listed company on 13 December 2006. 

The Company is a subsidiary of SME Bank Limited (holding company), which holds 73.14% 

(31 December 2013: 73.14%) of the Company's shares. At the time of incorporation, the 

Company was a wholly owned subsidiary of SME Bank Limited, whereby under an 

arrangement the assets and liabilities of the leasing division of SME Bank Limited were 

transferred to the Company on 28 January 2003. The Company is listed on Lahore Stock 

Exchange and its registered office is situated at 56-F, Nazim-ul-Din Road, Blue Area, 

Islamabad. The core objective of the Company is to extend lease and working capital 

financing facilities to small and medium enterprises of the country.

1.2 Regulation 4 of Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 

(NBFC Regulations 2008) requires a leasing company to maintain, at all times, minimum 

equity of Rs. 700 million. The equity of the Company as at 31 December 2014 is Rs. 188.445 

million which is Rs.511.60 million short of the minimum capital requirement. The Company 

has been incurring losses since year ended 31 December 2009 which has resulted in erosion 

of equity. During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company has incurred a loss of Rs. 

11.046 million and the accumulated losses amounts to Rs. 180.021 million as at the year end. 

Further, the net assets of the Company amounting to Rs. 190.474 million includes non-

performing leases and loans and finances, net of provision, amounting to Rs. 129.885 

million.

The license to conduct leasing business granted to the Company by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) dated 30 June 2010, which expired on 20 May 

2013, specifically mentions that the license is subject to consistent compliance with all the 

requirements of NBFC Regulations 2008.

The company has applied for renewal of the license on 22 April 2013 and submitted a 

detailed business plan including measures to be taken for improvement of financial health 

of the Company and due compliance with minimum equity requirement as per NBFC 

Regulations 2008. Considering the financial health of the Company and expiry of leasing 

license, the SECP in letter dated 05 July 2013 instructed the Company to not to raise deposits 

from general public in any form till the compliance of the minimum equity requirement and 

the renewal of the leasing license. 

Further the Company is dependent on the running finance facility granted by the Parent 

Company. The revised prudential regulation of State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) applicable from 

June 2015 has restricted the exposure by bank to a related party to the extent of 7.5% of its 

equity. However, the Parent Company will apply to the State Bank of Pakistan for the 

relaxation of the aforesaid requirement in  respect of its financing to the Company.

The above factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant 

doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and the Company may not be 

able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 

SME Leasing Limited
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However, these financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis considering 

the factors mentioned below:

- Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan on the recommendation of NBF Sector 

Reform Committee is currently reviewing the overall regulatory regime of NBFI sector 

which includes considering various options relating to minimum equity requirements;

 - The parent company has granted a short term running finance facility to the Company 

amounting to Rs. 180 million out of which Rs. 155.320 million has been utilised as at 31 

December 2014. The bank will renew the facility on 23 April 2015. The said facility can be 

extended to the extent of Rs. 300 million as per the stand-by agreement for finance facility as 

disclosed in note 16 to these financial statements. As discussed earlier, the parent company 

will apply for relaxation to the State Bank of Pakistan from the requirements of related party 

exposure limits in order to continue its support  towards the Company;

 - The management of the Company has prepared cash flow projections which reflect that 

based on financial support by the parent company the Company will be able to continue its 

business on going concern basis in the forseeable future;

 - Concerted efforts are being made for the recovery of non-performing leases and loans and 

finances and in this respect during the year Rs. 23.012 million has been recovered. Further, 

subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2014, Rs. 1.028 million has been recovered in 

respect of thenon-performing Loans till the end of January 2015;

 - The Company recommenced leasing business from September 2013 after a considerable 

gap, with attractive mark up rates and reasonable deposit margins. During the year leases 

amounting to Rs. 256.540 million (2013: 81.730 million) have been disbursed;

Based on the above mentioned financial measures and the concerted operational measures 

being taken by the Company, the management is confident of the profitable operations in 

the foreseeable future and therefore, has prepared the financial statements on going concern 

basis.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved accounting 

standards as applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of such 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) as are notified under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (the 

Ordinance), the requirements of the Ordinance, the Non-Banking Finance Companies 

(Establishment and Regulations) Rules, 2003 (the NBFC Rules), the Non-Banking Finance 

Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (the NBFC Regulations), and the 

directives issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (the SECP). 

Wherever the requirements of the Ordinance, the NBFC Rules, the NBFC Regulations, or the 

directives issued by the SECP differ with the requirements of IFRS, the requirements of the 

SME Leasing Limited
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Ordinance, the NBFC Rules, the NBFC Regulations and the directives issued by the SECP 

prevail.

2.2 Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 

that investments classified as 'available-for-sale' are marked to market and carried at fair 

value.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees, which is the Company's 

functional currency. All financial information presented in Pakistan Rupees has been 

rounded to the nearest rupee.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards 

as applicable in Pakistan, requires management to make judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 

other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 

form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of approved accounting standards, as 

applicable in Pakistan, that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates 

with a significant risk of material adjustment in the subsequent years are as follows:

i) Classification and valuation of investments (notes 3.9 and 7).

ii) Provision for current and deferred taxation and recognition and measurement of 

deferred tax assets and liabilities (notes 3.14 and 29).

iii) Classification and provision of net investment in finance lease and loans and 

finances (notes 3.6, 3.7, 10 and 11).

iv) Determination and measurement of useful life and residual value of operating fixed 

assets (note 3.2 and 13).

v) Staff retirement benefits (3.5 and 21).

SME Leasing Limited
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2.5 STANDARDS AND IFRIC INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The following standards, amendments and interpretations of approved accounting 

standards will be effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2015:

Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” Employee contributions – a practical approach 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014). The practical expedient 

addresses an issue that arose when amendments were made in 2011 to the  previous pension 

accounting requirements. The amendments introduce a relief that will reduce the 

complexity and burden of accounting for certain contributions from employees or third 

parties. The amendments are relevant only to defined benefit plans that involve 

contributions from employees or third parties meeting certain criteria. 

Amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets and IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) introduce severe 

restrictions on the use of revenue-based amortization for intangible assets and explicitly 

state that revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used for property, plant and 

equipment. The rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based amortisation 

methods for intangible assets is inappropriate can be overcome only when revenue and the 

consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are ‘highly correlated’, or when 

the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue. The amendments are not likely to 

have an impact on Company’s financial statements.

IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ – (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2015) replaces the part of IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements. IFRS 10 introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be 

consolidated. The single model to be applied in the control analysis requires that an investor 

controls an investee when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee. IFRS 10 has made consequential changes to IAS 27 which is now called 

‘Separate Financial Statements’ and will deal with only separate financial statements. 

Certain further amendments have been made to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 clarifying the 

requirements relating to accounting for investment entities and would be effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The adoption of this standard is not like 

to have an impact on Company’s financial statements.

IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2015) replaces IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’. Firstly, it carves out, from IAS 31 jointly 

controlled entities, those cases in which although there is a  separate vehicle, that separation 

is ineffective in certain ways. These arrangements are treated similarly to jointly controlled 

assets/operations under IAS 31 and are now called joint operations. Secondly, the remainder 

of IAS 31 jointly controlled entities, now called joint ventures, are stripped of the free choice 

of using the equity method or proportionate consolidation;

they must now always use the equity method. IFRS 11 has also made consequential changes 

in IAS 28 which has now been named ‘Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures’. The 
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amendments requiring business combination accounting to be applied to acquisitions of 

interests in a joint operation that constitutes a business are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016.  The adoption of this standard is not like to have an 

impact on Company’s financial statements. 

IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities’ (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2015) combines the disclosure requirements for entities that have interests 

in subsidiaries, joint arrangements (i.e. joint operations or joint ventures), associates and/or 

unconsolidated structured entities, into one place. The adoption of this standard is not like 

to have an impact on Company’s financial statements.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2015) defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets 

out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 explains how to measure 

fair value when it is required by other IFRSs. It does not introduce new fair value 

measurements, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value 

measurements that currently exist in certain standards. The adoption of this standard is not 

like to have an impact on Company’s financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statement’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016). The amendments to IAS 27 will allow entities to use 

the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 

in their separate financial statements.

Agriculture: Bearer Plants [Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 41] (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016). Bearer plants are now in the scope of IAS 16 Property, 

Plant and Equipment for measurement and disclosure purposes. Therefore, a company can 

elect to measure bearer plants at cost. However, the produce growing on bearer plants will 

continue to be measured at fair value less costs to sell under IAS 41 Agriculture. A bearer 

plant is a plant that: is used in the supply of agricultural produce; is expected to bear 

produce for more than one period; and has a remote likelihood of being sold as agricultural 

produce. Before maturity, bearer plants are accounted for in the same way as self-

constructed items of property, plant and equipment during construction. 

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) [effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2016]. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is 

recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or 

not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not 

constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. 

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles (most amendments will apply 

prospectively for annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2014). The new cycle of 

improvements contain amendments to the following standards:

- IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. IFRS 2 has been amended to clarify the definition of ‘vesting
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condition’ by separately defining ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’. 

- IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’. These amendments clarify the classification and 

measurement of contingent consideration in a business combination. 

- IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ has been amended to explicitly require the disclosure of 

judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria. 

- Amendments to IAS 16’Property, plant and equipment’ and IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. The

the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset.

- IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosure’. The definition of related party is extended to include a

management entity that provides key management personnel services to the reporting 

entity, either directly or through a group entity. 

- IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’. IAS 40 has been amended to clarify that an entity should: 

assess whether an acquired property is an investment property under IAS 40 and perform a 

separate assessment under IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of the investment 

property constitutes a business combination.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 cycles (amendments are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016). The new cycle of improvements contain amendments 

to the following standards: 

- IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. IFRS 5 is amended to

clarify that if an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset (or disposal group) i.e.

reclassifies an asset from held for distribution to owners to held for sale or vice versa without 

any time lag, then such change in classification is considered as continuation of the original 

plan of disposal and if an entity determines that an asset (or disposal group) no longer meets 

the criteria to be classified as held for distribution, then it ceases held for distribution 

accounting in the same way as it would cease held for sale accounting.

- IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments- Disclosures’. IFRS 7 is amended to clarify when servicing

arrangements are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing involvement in

transferred financial assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety. IFRS 7 is 

also amended to clarify that additional disclosures required by ‘Disclosures: Offsetting 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS7)’ are not specifically 

required for inclusion in condensed interim financial statements for all interim periods.

- IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. IAS 19 is amended to clarify that high quality corporate bonds or

government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in the same 

currency in which the benefits are to be paid. 

- IAS 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’. IAS 34 is amended to clarify that certain disclosures, if

they are not included in the notes to interim financial statements and disclosed elsewhere 

should be cross referred. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements 

are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and balances in current and savings 

bank accounts. Short term running finance that are repayable on demand and form an 

integral part of the Company’s cash management, are included as a component of cash and 

cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

3.2 Fixed assets

3.2.1 Property and equipment

These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

Depreciation is charged to profit and loss accounts by applying using the straight line 

method at the rates specified in note 12.1 after taking into account residual value, if any. 

Depreciation on additions is charged from the month the assets are put to use while no 

depreciation is charged in the month in which the assets are disposed off. The residual 

values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at 

each balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets' carrying amounts or recognised as a separate 

asset, as  appropriate, only when it is probable that future benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 

subsequent costs including repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit and loss 

account as and when incurred.

Gains or losses on sale of assets are charged to the profit and loss account in the period in 

which they arise.

3.2.2 Intangible

These are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. 

Amortisation is charged using the straight line method over its estimated useful life at the 

rates specified in note 12.2 after taking into account residual value, if any. The residual 

values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at 

each balance sheet date.

Amortisation on additions is charged from the month the assets are put to use while no 

amortisation is charged in the month in which the assets are disposed off.

Gain and losses on disposal of such assets, if any, are included in the profit and loss account.

3.3 Assets held under finance lease

The Company accounts for assets acquired under finance lease by recording the asset and 
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related liability. The amounts are determined on the basis of lower of their fair value of assets 

and present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of lease. Financial charges 

are allocated to accounting periods in a manner so as to provide a constant periodic rate of 

charge on the outstanding liability. Leased assets are depreciated on a basis similar to owned 

assets. 

3.4 Assets held for sale

Non current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as 

held-for-sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather 

than through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying 

amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-

for-sale and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

3.5 Staff retirement benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Company operates an approved defined contributory provident fund for all its 

permanent employees. Monthly contributions are made to the fund equally by the 

Company and the employees at the rate of 8 percent of basic salary. The contributions are 

recognised as employee benefit expense when they become due.

Staff retirement benefits are payable to employees on completion of the prescribed 

qualifying period of service under the scheme. 

Employees' compensated absences 

The Company accounts for its liability towards accumulating compensated absences, when 

the employees render service that increase their entitlement to future compensated 

absences. 

Defined benefit plan

The Company operates an unapproved and unfunded gratuity scheme covering all of its 

permanent employees who have completed the qualifying period under the scheme. The 

scheme is administered by the trustees and contributions therein are made in accordance 

with the actuarial recommendations. 

The valuation in this regard is carried out at each year end, using the Projected Unit Credit 

Method for the valuation of the scheme. Remeasurement of the defined benefit liability, 

which comprises of actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other 

comprehensive income based on actuarial.

The company determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit 

liability (asset) for the year by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
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benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual year to the net defined benefit liability 

(asset), taking into account and change in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the 

year as a result of contribution and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other 

expense related to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit and loss account.

3.6 Net investment in lease finance 

Leases where the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership of the leased assets to the lessees, are classified as finance leases.

The leased asset is derecognised and the present value of the lease receivable is recognised 

on the balance sheet. The difference between the gross lease receivables and the present 

value of the lease receivables is recognised as unearned finance income.

A receivable is recognised at an amount equal to the present value of the minimum lease 

payments under the lease agreements, including guaranteed residual value, if any.

Each lease payment received is applied against the gross investment in the finance lease 

receivable to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income. The finance 

income is recognised in the profit and loss account on a basis that reflects a constant periodic 

rate of return on the net investment in the finance lease receivables.

Initial direct costs incurred by the company in negotiating and arranging finance leases are 

added to finance lease receivables and are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss 

account over the lease term on the same basis as the finance lease income.

3.7 Provision for potential lease losses and doubtful loans and receivables

Specific provision for potential lease losses and doubtful loans and receivables are made 

based in the appraisal of each lease or loan on the basis of the requirements of the NBFC 

Regulations.

3.8 Financial assets and liabilities

All the financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Company 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and derecognised when the 

Company losses control of contractual rights that comprises the financial assets and in the 

case of financial liabilities when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 

cancelled or expired. Any gain or loss on derecognition of financial assets and financial 

liabilities is taken to profit and loss account directly. 

Financial assets carried at balance sheet date includes cash and bank balances, investments, 

long term finances and loans, net investment in finance leases, deposits and other 

receivables.

Financial liabilities carried at balance sheet date includes certificates of investment, 

deposits, short term borrowing, long term finances, liabilities against assets subject to 

finance lease, accrued and other payables.

SME Leasing Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.9 Investments

All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration 

given and include transaction costs except for held for trading investments in which case 

transaction costs are charged to the profit and loss account. All purchase and sale of 

investments that require delivery within the required time frame established by regulations 

or market convention are accounted for at the trade date. Trade date is the date when the 

Company commits to purchase or sell the investments. These are recognised and classified 

as follows:

Investment at fair value through profit or loss (held for trading)

At the time of acquisition, quoted investments which are acquired principally for the 

purpose of generating profit from short term fluctuations in price or are part of portfolio for 

which there is a recent actual pattern of short term profit taking are classified as held for 

trading.

Subsequent to initial recognition these are remeasured at fair value by reference to quoted 

market prices with the resulting gain or loss being included in net profit or loss for the period 

in which it arises.

Available-for-sale

These are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly in 

equity. Gains or losses on revaluation of available-for-sale investments are recognised 

directly in equity until the investments are sold or other wise disposed off, or until the 

investments are determined to be impaired, at which time cumulative gain or loss 

previously reported in the equity is included in current year's profit and loss. 

All investments classified as available-for-sale are initially recognised at cost inclusive of 

transaction costs and subsequently quoted investments are marked to market using the last 

quoted rate at the close of the financial year. 

Held to maturity

At the time of acquisition, investments with fixed maturity, where management has both the 

intent and the ability to hold to maturity, are classified as held to maturity.

Subsequently, these are measured at amortised cost less provision for impairment in value, 

if any. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 

acquisition by using the effective yield method.

The difference between the redemption value and the purchase price of the held to maturity

investments is amortised and taken to the profit and loss account over the term of the 

investment.

These are reviewed for impairment at year end and any losses arising from impairment in 

values are charged to the profit and loss account.

SME Leasing Limited
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3.10 Loans and receivables

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. 

These are initially recognised at fair value plus any related transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at 

amortised cost.

3.11 Impairment

The carrying value of the Company's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the 

recoverable amount of such asset is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever 

the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 

recognised in the profit and loss account.

3.12 Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which 

the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All 

derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and 

liabilities when fair value is negative.

Any change in the fair value is recognised in the profit and loss account. 

3.13 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the 

balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amount and 

the Company intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously. 

3.14 Taxation

Taxation charge in the profit and loss account comprises of current and deferred tax. 

Current

Provisions for current taxation is based on taxability of certain income streams of the 

Company under presumptive / final tax regime and minimum tax under section 113 of the 

Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, wherever applicable, at the applicable tax rates and remaining 

income streams chargeable at current rate of taxation under the normal tax regime after 

taking into account tax credits and tax rebates available, if any. 

Deferred

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary 

differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided 

is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 

be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax are reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

3.15 Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. Provision are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 

are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

3.16 Long term finances

Long term finances are initially recognised at cost being the fair value of the consideration 

received together with the associated transaction cost. 

Subsequently, these are carried at amortised cost using effective interest method. 

Transaction cost relating to the long term finance is being amortised over the period of 

agreement using the effective interest method.

3.17 Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Pakistani Rupees at the foreign exchange 

rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 

currencies are translated into Pakistani Rupees at the rates of exchange approximating those 

prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss 

account.

3.18 Revenue recognition

- The Company follows the finance lease method in accounting for the recognition of lease 

income.Under this method, the unearned lease income i.e. the excess of gross lease rentals 

and the estimated residual value over the cost of the leased assets is deferred and taken to 

income over the  term of the lease contract, so as to produce a systematic return on the net 

investment in finance lease. Unrealised lease income is held in suspense account, where 

necessary, in accordance with the requirements of the NBFC Regulations.

- Front-end fees and documentation charges are taken to income when realised. 

- Income on investments is accounted for on accrual basis. 

- Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established. 

- Income on loans and finances is accounted for on accrual basis using effective interest 

method.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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- Unrealised lease income and unrealised income on loans and finances is held in suspense 

account, where necessary, in accordance with requirements of the Non-Banking Finance 

Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (NBFC Regulations).

- Profit on bank deposit and short term placements is accrued on a time proportion basis.

- Gain or loss arising on sale of investments are taken to income in the period in which they

arise.

3.19 Earnings / (loss) per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share (EPS) for its 

shareholders. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 

share holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 

attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding for the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, if any.

3.20 Dividend distribution and transfer between reserves

Dividend distribution (including stock dividend) to the Company's shareholders and 

transfer between reserves, except appropriations which are required under law, are 

recognised in the financial statements in the period in which such dividends are declared or 

such transfers between reserves are made.

3.21 Capital and Revenue reserves

Share premium

The share premium was recorded in the year 2006 on issue of shares in accordance with 

requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 1984. This premium is available for restrictive 

use as per section 83 of the Companies Ordinance 1984.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the requirements of the NBFC Regulations, an amount of not less than 20 

percent of after tax profits shall be transferred to statutory reserve till such time when the 

reserve equals the amount of paid-up capital, and thereafter a sum of not less than 5 percent 

shall be transferred. Consequently, during the current year the Company has transferred an 

amount of Rs. Nil (2011: Rs. Nil) to its statutory reserve.

Reserve against future losses

This reserve represents amounts set aside in view of the risks associated with the economic 

cyclical nature of the business and is recognised as an appropriation of retained earnings. 

Any credits resulting from reduction of such amounts result in an increase in 

unappropriated profit and are not included in the determination of profit and loss for the 

period. The amount to be set aside against future losses is  determined at the rate of 0.5 

percent of the outstanding balance of the regular portfolio of leases and loans and 

receivables as at each year end. No such reserve has been created by the Company for the 

year ended 31 December 2014.
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7.1 This represents investment in 327,709 units (2013: 306,271) of Namco Balanced Fund, an 

open end mutual fund. As at 31 December 2014, the cost of the above investments amounted 

to Rs. 1.18 million (2013: Rs. 1.18 million). During the year Namco Balance Fund was 

converted into open end funds from the closed end funds.

8. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

During the period, the Board of directors in their meeting held on 27 October 2014 decided to 

sell the property located at F.B area. Consequently, the Company has accordingly classified 

the said asset from operating fixed assets to assets held for sale in accordance with the 

requirements of IFRS 5 'Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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10.1  These represent housing loans given to employees. These loans are recovered through 

deduction from salaries over varying periods up to a maximum period of 20 years. These loans 

are granted to the employees in accordance with their terms of employment. The housing 

loans are secured by registered mortgage in favour of the Company. These loans carry mark-

up at 5% (2013: 5%) per annum.

10.2   These represent loans to customers for a period of three to five years on mark-up basis and are 

secured by way of hypothecation of stock and immovable property. The rate of mark-up ranges 

from 13.5% to 25.44% (2013: 13.5% to 25.44%) per annum.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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11.1.1 This includes a lease receivable of Rs. 8.371 million, restored as a result of the order of the Supreme Court of 

Pakistan dated 03 January 2014. The said order cancelled the previous settlement of the lease through sale of 

underlying mortgaged property. A liability of Rs. 9.819 million has also been recorded towards the buyer of 

the property. The amount of Rs. 9.819 million has been subsequently deposited with the additional registrar 

of Sindh High Court in respect of said liability.

11.1.2 These represent interest free security deposits received against lease contracts and are refundable / 

adjustable at the expiry / termination of the respective leases. The amount is net of security deposit held 

against matured leases amounting to Rs. 253.720 million (2013: Rs. 240.233 million).
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The Company has a running finance facility available from the holding company amounting to Rs. 

180 million (2013: Rs.90 million) at mark-up rates ranging between 13.49% to 13.96% (2013: 13.49% 

to 15.42%) per annum. Above arrangements are secured by way of hypothecation of the Company's 

specific leased assets and related receivables of the Company. Further, the said facility can be 

extended to the extent of Rs. 300 million as per the stand-by agreement for finance facility.
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This represents balance due against financing facilities amounting to Rs. 7.3 million from 
National Energy Conservation Centre (Enercon). The facilities from Enercon have been obtained 
under an agreement whereby they have agreed to provide funds to the Company for granting 
lease / finance facility to its customers for procuring and using energy efficient equipments. The 
facility carries mark-up at the rate of 5% per annum payable on quarterly basis subject to the 
condition that the Company will provide lease /finance facility to its customers at a preferential 
mark-up rate.

The finance lease arrangements have been entered into with Commercial Banks & Leasing 
Companies for vehicles. Lease rentals are payable in monthly installments at mark-up rates 
ranging from 14.39% to 23% per annum (2013: 14.39% to 23% per annum). These finance lease 
arrangements will mature in the year 2015 to 2017. At the end of lease term, the Company has the 
option to acquire the assets subject to the adjustment of security deposit which it intends to 
exercise.

The latest actuarial valuation of the gratuity scheme was carried out on 31 December 2014 by 
Nauman Associates using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The following significant 
assumptions were used for valuation of the scheme:

The Company operates an unapproved and unfunded gratuity scheme for all of its permanent 
employees. Number of employees covered under the scheme are 27 (2013:18).

SME Leasing Limited
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21.6     Expected accrual of expenses in respect of defined benefit scheme in the next financial year on the 

advice of the actuary is Rs. 1.111 million. 

21.7     Sensitivity analysis

           Sensitivity analysis has been performed by varying one assumption keeping all other assumptions 

constant and calculating the impact on the present value of the defined benefit obligations under 

the employee benefit schemes. The increase / (decrease) in the present value of defined benefit 

obligations as a result of change in each assumption is summarized below:
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4,606,467

3,848,963

3,837,150

4,606,467

3,847,762

4,846,409
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27.1 Salaries allowances and other benefits include Rs. 1.069 million (2013: Rs.0.895 million) in respect of 

staff gratuity scheme and Rs. 0.429 million (2013: Rs. 0.327 million) in respect of staff provident fund. In 

addition the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of compensated absences was Rs. 

0.969 million (2013: Rs. 0.108 million) 

27.2 Remuneration of Chief Executives and Executives

The aggregate amount charged in the financial statements, including all benefits, to the Chief 

Executive and Executives of the Company are as follows:  

27.2.1 The chief executive and certain executives were also provided with free use of Company owned 

and maintained cars in accordance with their terms of employment.

27.3 This represents remuneration paid to the non-executive directors of the Company for attending 

meetings of the Board and Board's committees.
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29. TAXATION

29.1 Current tax liability

Provision for the current year income tax has been made under the provisions of minimum tax 

under Section 113 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (Ordinance).

29.2 Current status of tax assessments

The income tax assessments of the Company have deemed to be finalised up to and including Tax 

year 2014, except for Tax year 2011 and 2012, which has been selected for audit. 

In respect of Tax year 2011, the Company has submitted in this respect all the requisite documents 

/ information with the tax authority. However, the Honourale High Court has declared the 

selection of case as null and void, hence the return stands accepted as deemed assessment order 

under section 120 of Income tax Ordinance, 2001.

 In respect of Tax year 2012, the tax authorities have served order under section 122(1) read with  

section 177(1) and 214C of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 disallowing expenses relating to 

depreciation allowance, markup on loan to employees and financial cost and creating tax 

demand of  Rs. 3.8 million. The Company has filed an appeal before the Commissioner Inland 

Revenue (Appeals-II) against the said order and the case has not yet been fixed for hearing.

29.3.1 The Company has recognised deferred tax asset on deductible temporary difference only to the 

extent of deferred tax liability on taxable temporary difference. Deferred tax asset of Rs. 86.562 

million (2013: Rs. 128.984 million) has not been recognised as the Company does not foresee 

future taxable profits against which unused tax losses will be utilised.
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Rupees

2013
(Audited)

Rupees
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Introduction and overview

The Company has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:

- credit risk

- liquidity risk

- market risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 

Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing it.

34.1 Risk management framework

The Board has established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for 

developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. The committee reports 

regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 

by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence 

to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 

market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and 

management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 

environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

34.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation 

and cause the other party to incur a financial loss, without taking into account the fair value of 

any collateral. Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter parties are engaged 

in similar business activities or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to 

meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economics, political or other 

conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company's 

performance to developments affecting a particular industry.  

34.2.1 Management of credit risk

The Company's policy is to enter into financial contracts in accordance with the internal risk 

management policies and the requirements of the NBFC Rules and Regulations. The Company 

attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific 

counter parties, and continually assessing the credit worthiness of counter parties.
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Settlement risk

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an entity to honour its obligations to deliver 

cash or other assets as contractually agreed on sale.

This risk is addressed more or less in accordance with the parameters set out in the credit risk 

management above.

To reduce the exposure to credit risk the Company has developed a formal approval process 

whereby credit limits are applied to its customers. The management continuously monitors the 

credit exposure towards the customers and makes provision against those balances considered 

doubtful of recovery (and also obtains security / advance payments, wherever considered 

necessary). Cash is held only with reputable banks with high quality credit worthiness.
 

34.2.6 Concentration of credit risk - gross investment in finance lease

The Company seeks to manage its credit risk through diversification of financing activities to 

avoid undue concentration of credit risk with individuals or groups of customers in specific 

locations or business sectors. It also obtains collaterals when appropriate. 

The management of the Company follows two sets of guidelines. Internally, it has its own policies 

and procedures duly approved by the Board of Directors whereas externally it adheres to the 

regulations issued by the SECP. The operating policy defines the extent of fund based exposures 

with reference to a particular sector or group of leases.
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34.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial 

obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Company 

could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected or may face difficulty in raising funds 

to meet commitments associated with financial liabilities as they fall due.

34.3.1 Management of liquidity risk

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 

have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 

conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company's 

reputation. Due to nature of the business, the Company maintains flexibility in funding by 

maintaining committed credit lines available. The Company’s liquidity management involves 

projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to fulfil its obligation; 

monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external requirements and 

maintaining debt financing plans. 

Category

& Pharma
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34.3.2 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Company's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 

the remaining period at the balance sheet date to maturity date and represents the undiscounted cash 

flows. The amounts in the table are the gross nominal undiscounted cash flows (including interest 

payments).

34.4 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign 

exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) will 

effect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 

market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

The Company is exposed to interest rate and other price risk only.

34.4.1 Management of market risk

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 

acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. The Company manages the market risk by 

monitoring exposure on marketable securities by following internal risk management policies and 

regulations laid down by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan.
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34.4.2   Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. Majority of the interest rate exposure arises on investment in 

finance lease, finance and loans, investment in government securities, bank balances and borrowing 

from banks. The Company carries a mix of fixed and floating rate financial instruments.

At 31 December, details of the interest rate profile of the Company's interest bearing financial 

instruments were as follows: 

34.4.3 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 

profit and loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit and 

loss account. 

34.4.4 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) 

profit or loss by Rs. 1.551 million (2013: Rs.0.349 million). This analysis assumes that all other variables, 

remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis which were used for the year ended 31 

December 2013.

The sensitivity analysis prepared as of 31 December 2014 is not necessarily indicative of the impact on 

the Company's net assets of future movements in interest rates and profit for the year and assets / 

liabilities of the Company.

- Saving Accounts
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34.5   Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest risk or currency risk) whether those 

changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 

affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. Presently, the Company is not exposed to 

equity securities price risk as the Company does not hold any equity securities as at 31 December 2014.

A change in one percent increase / decrease in the price of such certificates as on 31 December 2014, with all 

other variables held constant, the  equity of the Company for the year would have been higher / lower by 

Rs. 32,091 (2013: Rs. 13,094).

35.     CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

35.1   The Company's prime objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide adequate returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce its cost of capital.

35.2   Consistent with others in the industry, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This 

ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total capital employed:

35.3   Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of its working capital 

with a view to maintaining an appropriate mix between various sources of finance to minimise liquidity 

risk. Taken as a whole, the Company's risk arising from financial instruments is limited as there is no 

significant exposure to price and cash flow risk in respect of such instruments.

36.     FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The carrying values of the financial assets 

and financial liabilities approximate their fair values except for investments held to maturity and leases at 

fixed rate of return.

The Company's accounting policy on fair value measurements is discussed in note 3.8.
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The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 

the inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1: Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities.

Level 2:  Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Fair value measurements using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 

market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period by 

the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

SME Leasing Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
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37.     SEGMENT INFORMATION

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged in business activities from 

which the Company earns revenues and incur expenses and its results are regularly reviewed by the 

Company's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 

segment and assess its performance. Further, discrete financial information is available for each segment.

The Company's reportable segments under IFRS 8 are therefore finance lease, loans and receivables, and 

investments. Other operations, which are not deemed by the management to be sufficiently significant to 

disclose as separate items are reported under Others.
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37.2     Revenue from finance lease includes income from finance lease operations and gain/loss on termination of 

lease. Revenue from loans and receivable includes mark-up income on loans to customers and employees, 

and revenue from investments include gain on disposal of investments, dividend income and mark-up on 

government securities.
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Chief Executive Officer 
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Notes:

1. A proxy must be a member of the Bank. However, an association (whether body 

corporate or  not) being a member of the Bank may appoint as its proxy one of its 

officers through not a member of the Bank.

2. Proxy form, in order to be valid, must be duly signed and deposited at registered 

office of the Bank not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

Witness:

Signature: 

Name: 

Signature: 

Name:  

Revenue Stamps:

 signed by the said  day of

th as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 13   Annual General Meeting

of the Bank to be held on March 30, 2015 at 11:00 am and at any adjournment thereof.

 a member of SME BANK LIMITED, hereby appoint

FORM OF PROXY

I/We of being

 or failing him of

As witness my/our hand the

 in the presence of 

Signature: 

Name: 

Designation:  

Address: 

SME Bank Ltd
small business - Big opportunities
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56-F, Nazimuddin Road
F-6/1, Blue Area
Islamabad
Ph.# (051) 9217000, Fax. # (051) 9217001
UAN: 111 11 00 11
Website: www.smebank.org
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Tel: 051-9217000
Fax: 051-9217001

UAN: 111-11-00-11


